A WO DN P

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

BEFORE THE PUBLI C SERVI CE COWM SSI ON OF UTAH

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *

Application of Rocky Mountain Power *

for Approval of a Large-Load Service * Docket No. 26-035-05

Contract Between Pacifi Corp and a *
Large- Load Custoner *

* * % * *x % *x % * *x * *x % * * * *x * %

HEARI NG ON MOTI ONS
March 17, 2026
9:00 aam to 12:36 a.m
Heari ng Room 403, Heber M Wells Buil di ng

Reported by: Spencer Von Jarrett, RPR No. 993793

Page 1

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




OO WDNPE

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

A PPEARANCES
UTAH PUBLI C SERVI CE COMMI SSI ON
CHAI R JERRY D. FENN
COMMI SSI ONER DAVI D R. CLARK

COMMI SSI ONER DR. JOHN SWENSON HARVEY

For Rocky Mountain Power:

Kat herine Smith, Esq.
ROCKY MOUNTAI N POWER

1407 West North Temple, Suite 310

Salt Lake City, UT 84116
kat herine.smith@acificorp.com

Ashl ey M Wal ker, Esg.

DORSEY & WHI TNEY LLP

111 South Main Street Suite 2100
Salt Lake City, UT 84111-2176
wal ker . ashl ey@orsey.com

For the Division of Public Utilities:

Patricia Schmi d, Esq.

UTAH ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFI CE
160 East 300 South, 5th Floor
Salt Lake City, UT 84111

pschmi d@agut ah. gov

For the Office of Consumer Services:

Robert Moore, Esgq.

UTAH ATTORNEY GENERAL'S OFFI CE
160 East 300 South, 5th Floor
Salt Lake City, UT 84111
rmoore@gut ah. gov

For Utah Association of Energy Users:

Phillip J. Russell, Esgqg.

JAMES DODGE RUSSELL & STEPHENS,
545 East 300 South

Salt Lake City, UT 84102
prussel @ drsl aw. com

Page 2

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




10

11

12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

I NDEX

EVENTS

UAE' S MOTI ON FOR ACCESS TO RAO MATERI AL

ON BEHALF OF UAE

ON BEHALF OF RMP

RULI NG

ON CONFI DENTI AL | NFORMATI ON DURI NG HEARI NG

ON SETTLEMENT STI PULATI ON
Rocky Mbunt ai n Power
Ut ah Associ ation of Energy Users
Division of Public Uilities
O fice of Consuner Services

NEXT STEPS

EXHI BI TS
Testinony, Exs., Wbrk Papers of M. Eller
Direct Testinmony of M. Mtchell
Testinony, Exs., Wbrk Papers of M. Burns
Direct testinmony of M. Bieber
Testi nony and Ex. of M. Pernichele
Testinmony of M. I|rmas
Application and Settlenment Stipulation

PAGE

14

32

32

34
93
103
114

122

PAGE
36

77
89
94
106
116
122

Page 3

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




N -

~N O

10

11

12

13
14

15

16

17

18

19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

W TNESSES

CRAI G ELLER ( RWVP)
By Ms. \Wal ker
By Ms. Schnm d
By M. Russell

N DE X (cont.)

By Conm ssi oner Harvey
By Conmm ssioner C ark

By Chair Fenn

RAMON M TCHELL (RMP) (Via Videoconference)

By Ms. Wal ker
By Ms. Schm d

By Conm ssi oner Harvey

THOVAS BURNS (RMP) (Via Videoconference)

By Ms. \Wal ker

By Conm ssi oner Harvey

JUSTI N Bl EBER (UAE)
By M. Russell

By Conm ssi oner Harvey

By Chair Fenn
MATT PERNI CHELE ( DPU)
By Ms. Schm d

By Commi ssi oner Harvey

By Chair Fenn

CAMERON | RVAS ( OCS)
By M. Mbore

By Conm ssioner C ark
By Conm ssi oner Harvey

By Chair Fenn

PAGE

34
42
44
58
67
73

76
83
84

88
92

93
96
99

103
109
110

115
118
118
119

Page 4

Veritext Lega Solutions

Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

PROCEEDI NGS

[On the record at 9:00 a. m|]

CHAIR FENN: Good norning, everyone. W're here on
the matter of the application of Rocky Mountain Power for
approval of a large-load service contract between Pacifi Corp
and a large-load custoner. That's Docket Nunber 26-035-05.

Let's take appearances for the record. Let's first
begin with Rocky Mountain Power.

M5. WALKER: Good norning. Ashley Wal ker of Dorsey &
Whi t ney for Rocky Mountain Power. And | have Katherine Smth
who is in-house counsel for Rocky Mountain Power with ne.

CHAI R FENN: Thank you, Ms. Walker and Ms. Smith.

For the Division?

M5. SCHM D: Patricia E. Schmd with the Attorneys
General office on behalf of the Division. Patrick Gecuis
al so here as counsel

CHAIR FENN: Ckay. | see him

Al right. M. Moore.

MR. MOORE: Yes; Robert Moore of the Attorney

Ceneral's office representing the Office of Consumer Services.

Qur witness today will be Canmeron Irnms.
CHAIR FENN: | guess | could have asked fol ks for
their witness, but we'll cone to that. | think we know

All right. So let's go to M. Russel

MR. RUSSELL: Yes, good nmorning. Phil Russel on
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behal f of the Utah Association of Energy Users. Qur w tness

today will be Justin Bieber.
CHAIR FENN: Ckay. | think we granted a notion for
| eave to intervene of Utah Clean Energy. Dr. Mtchell is here.

Al right. You don't have counsel today?

MR. M TCHELL: No.

CHAI R FENN: Thank you.

[ UAE' S MOTI ON FOR ACCESS TO RAO MATERI AL]

CHAIR FENN: All right. As a prelimnary matter, |'d
like to take up the consideration of the UAE' s notion for
access to material marked Regul ator Access Only. And | guess
the first question | have is, have we reached any resolution on
this or is the matter noot considering the settlenent
agreenent ?

MR. RUSSELL: | think the answer to both of those is
no. We have not joined the settlenment stipulation.

CHAIR FENN: | knew that.

MR. RUSSELL: And the matter has not been ot herw se
resolved. Okay. Well, let's take that matter first then;
okay?

MR. RUSSELL: Okay.

CHAIR FENN: M. Russell, will you go ahead and
present your arguments on that.

MR. RUSSELL: Thank you, M. Chairmn

Il
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[ ARGUVMENT ON BEHALF OF UAE]

MR, RUSSELL: | want to start with what this dispute
is not about. Oftentines these sorts of disputes conme to
adj udi catory bodies that are really a synptom of sort of
underlying m strust between the parties, and that's not what's
happening here. This is two parties who are trying to work
together to navigate a new rule. And, you know, we just have a
di fference of opinion about how it should be navigated. |
think both parties are operating in good faith here.

We filed the notion in part as a reflection of our
position in the docket, which is:

Wth respect to the contract itself, we don't really
take a position.

Wth respect to the request by Rocky Mountain Power
for approval of the accounting nmechanism we do take an
interest in that because it will affect future proceedi ngs
regarding rates. And we feel like the access that we were
provided or not provided to information sort of inpedes our
ability to evaluate their discussion about the accounting
mechani sm

Rocky Mountain Power in its filing says that the
charges protect other custoners, they have a discussion about
the reservation charge and the energy charge, and provide a
di scussion or at |east some statenents in their testinony to

di scuss how those charges protect other custoners fromshifting
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of costs. I'll give just kind of two very quick exanpl es:

If you turn to M. Eller's testinony on page four of
his direct testinony.

CHAIR FENN: Just give us a second.

MR. RUSSELL: Sure.

CHAI R FENN: Ckay.

MR. RUSSELL: The paragraph towards the bottom of
that page is nostly redacted, and so all | have to go on is the
context in which that paragraph appears. The preceding
par agraph includes a description of the reservation charge and
how, at |east in high-level terns, that charge protects other
custoners.

And the text that imediately follows the redacted
text kind of is a summary of what has been previously said, and
so therefore there's going to be benefits to other custoners.

I can't see what's behind the redactions to judge whether that
sort of conclusory statenent is true.

"1l kind of ask the Comm ssion to nove and the
parties to nove to pages 9 through 11 of M. Eller's direct
testimony as just another quick exanple.

There are several areas where the response to a
guestion is redacted, and the question itself is, "Please
descri be the energy charge and how its design ensures that
existing retail custonmers benefit or are held harm ess fromthe

proposed LLSC. ™"
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It's difficult for us to eval uate whether the
description there denonstrates that other custoners will be
hel d harm ess sinmply because we can't see it.

We cite additional materials in our nmotion and have
i ndicated that we'd agree that only I and M. Bieber would be
the ones that could viewit. Both of us have signed the
Conmmi ssion's NDA, as contenplated in the Conmi ssion's rules.

By rule, the new rule that this Conmm ssion has
adopt ed, Rocky Mountain Power has the obligation to denonstrate
that the redacted naterials are comrercially sensitive and that
the disclosure could place it at a conpetitive di sadvant age.

They, in their opposition brief, indicate that all of
the information that has been redacted is comercially
sensitive. Of course, | can't respond to that because it's
redacted and | can't see it.

By rule, credit and price terns are presunmed to be

commercially sensitive and are appropriately redacted.

And |'Il reiterate here, -- and we nay not have nade
this point clear enough in our notion -- we are not seeking
access to the price terns or the credit ternms. | don't need to

see those. What | do need to see is the explanation for how
the charges that are at issue here can or do prevent the shift
of cost to other custoners.

Rocky Mountain Power argues that the UAE has failed

to rebut the presunption that the redacted materials are
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commercially sensitive. And | think that may put the cart
before the horse a bit: they first have to denonstrate that the
redacted text is entitled to that presunption. And again, |
can't see the redacted text, so | can't say whether it is or is
not part of those categories of materials that are entitled to
t hat presunpti on.

Although 1'lIl note that sonme of the redactions, just
| ooki ng at page three of M. Eller's direct testinmony, seemto
be materials that identify other ternms |ike the | ocation of
where this customer will be served, which | don't really need
to see. But just pointing out that it's not the sort of
comercially sensitive information that the rule identifies,
including additionally the termlength, the forecasted peak
| oad. And again, none of that stuff is entitled to the
presunmption of commercial sensitivity.

There are other bits of redacted texts, including the
stuff that we've already tal ked about, seens to be just an
expl anation of how certain terns will protect other custoners,
whi ch does not seemto be, to me anyway, to be a commercially
sensitive issue. And providing this information to UAE under
confidentiality restrictions doesn't place Rocky Mbuntain Power
at a commercial di sadvant age.

Even if sone of the redacted text is comrercially
sensitive, | don't think Rocky Myuntain Power has shown that

the disclosure could result in a comrercial disadvantage to it.
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They argue that even if we don't disclose or use the
information in some way that we're not allowed to, once we've
seen it, we can't forget the information and that we, having
internalized that information, mght advise our clients in a
way that would di sadvantage it. |'ve got two responses to
t hat:

One, ny nenory's not nearly as good as you all think
it is. | pretty routinely read comr ssion orders and say, "Oh,
yeah, | totally forgot that that was an issue in this case."
But you don't have to trust that that's the case.

The second argunent, though, is one | do want to
linger on a bit. And that is this notion that having seen
information, we'd internalize it, and wi thout even really
realizing it, we'd use it in some way to provide advice to our
clients that could comrercially disadvantage the Conpany.

"' m concerned about that argunment in part because
think it could be used in basically every docket that cones
before this comm ssion where there's information that the
Conpany could say there is sonme comrercial sensitivity around
it. | think it could be used in a wi despread way to prevent
fol ks |ike UAE or Nucor or WRA or Utah Large Customer G oup or
any of the others that sit at this table over here from
meani ngfully participating in proceedi ngs where there is
i nformati on that could be argued to be highly confidenti al

And so | ask the Commi ssion to be consi derate when
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consi dering that argunment and to construe it narrowy.

And I'I1l just close here by noting a couple of
things. Again, we're not seeking the price or the credit
terms, those very ternms that the rule says are by their very
nature are comercially sensitive. W're entitled to rebut
that, but we're not actually seeking access to that, so |I'm not
trying to rebut it.

Rocky Mountain Power argues that the alternative
protections that we have proposed are insufficient. As |
mentioned, we've offered to just have it be provided to M.

Bi eber and nyself. Their argunent is, "Well, if that were
sufficient, we wouldn't need to designhate it as Regul at or
Access Only."

What 1'll note is the alternative treatnent that
we' ve proposed is precisely what the rule contenpl ates that
soneone in my position would propose, which is -- and that's in
R746- 318-1036( A), which says that a party seeking to chall enge
t he designation can propose an alternative mechani sm for
protecting the information, including restricting access to
persons who execute non-discl osure agreenents as contenpl at ed
under Section R746-1-602. That's what we did here.

Lastly, Rocky Mountain Power argues that, you know,
the review by the Division and the Ofice is sufficient, and so
t herefore the Comm ssion need not concern itself with providing

access to UAE or, you know, their dockets, | suppose, others.
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I'd like to respond to that by saying that | trust the Division
and the Ofice to do a very thorough job, but I'Il note that in
vari ous dockets, we all kind of identify different issues.

Look at any docket in any rate case that this conm ssion has
dealt with: we don't always see things the same way, we provide
di fferent expertise.

And in a docket where the tineline here is so short
and the dollars here are so big, | think it's inportant that as
many people who are reasonably capabl e of seeing that
information, | think it's nore inmportant, not |ess.

And lastly, I'll note this is kind of ny one shot at
maki ng sure that the accounting nmechanismfor this contract is
done right. Because once the Conm ssion issues an order and
says "You can do the accounting this way", | don't have an
opportunity in the next rate case to fight that in the event
that we think that it does, in fact, result in a shift of
costs.

So that's why it was inportant for us to raise this
issue now. And so that's really the point here is not because
we don't trust Rocky Mountain Power. W' ve had sonme good
di scussions with them about this and have tried to resolve
this, you know, through those discussions. W're nmaybe a
little late in bringing it to the Comm ssion's attention, but
it was because we were trying to work through it on our own.

But we feel |like we need to kind of take a stand on this
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because it's a new rul e and because |

don't want to be shut out

of that information either going forward or in sone rate case
where we're concerned that the nechani smthat has been
identified here does lead to a shift in costs.

So with that, 1'lIl leave it. Thank you

CHAIR FENN: Ckay. All right. Thank you

Let's hear from Rocky Mbuntain Power.

Who's going to

argue this; M. Wal ker?
M5. WALKER: | am thank you
CHAI R FENN: Ckay.
MS. WALKER: Am | speaking | oud enough?

CHAI R FENN:  Yes.
M5. WALKER: All right.

[ ARGUVENT ON BEHALF OF RMP]
MS. WALKER: Rocky Mountain Power appreciates the
opportunity to talk with the Comm ssion about the nmotion. |
want to address at the outset what nmkes this situation unique
from ot her proceedi ngs where the Comm ssion has to consider
sort of the role of the access that interveners |ike

M. Russell and his client, as well as the other entities he
referred to.

This is alittle bit unique because S.B. 132, the
statute that we're here in front of the Conm ssion under,
creates conpetition that does not ordinarily exist in this

space and creates a possibility that Rocky Mountain Power will
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be in a position to negotiate contracts and to | ose out on

busi ness to other service providers that is just different than
the way that the Commission is ordinarily regulating the
utility. And as a result, there is information -- such as

t he Conm ssion has protected pricing and credit -- that is
really critically inportant to the ability of the utility to
conpete in this space for future business.

And so that is the heart of our opposition to the
notion generally, but in particular | think why the argunent
t hat Rocky Mountain Power has nade with respect to the adequacy
of the protections proposed by UAE, why those are insufficient
here where they m ght be in other contexts; where the custoners
who are participants in UAE nay soneday be in a position to be
| arge-l oad custoners and to negotiate for these prices. So |
want to start there. And | think there are three critical
i ssues:

First is the first, that this is a really inportant
issue and it's because of this conpetitive nature that is
uni que.

Second, | appreciate M. Russell's point that he's
not really seeking pricing informati on but that he needs to
under stand how exi sting custoners are protected. That has been
di scussed and disclosed in detail w thout confidenti al
protections or without the Regulator Access Only protection.

In M. Mtchell's testinmony, M. Eller is prepared to discuss
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that today. O course, UAE is not a participant in the
settlenment, but | think that the now publicly-disclosed
settlenent identifies how existing custonmers will be protected.

And so that is not the material that has been
identified. The material that's been identified for potenti al
di sclosure is, with a couple of limted exceptions that | wll
address, is truly related to pricing. It defines the energy
charge; it identifies the variables used to calculate it; and
if the redactions were lifted, sort of the nethodol ogy/the way
t hat Rocky Mountain Power came to howit would treat this
custoner and the price that it would pay under the terns of the
agr eenent .

"' m happy to take the Comm ssion to sone exanples. |
t hink you probably have access to the unredacted copies, but
I'm not sure how you want nme to handl e that, given that
M. Russell, of course, to his point, can't see that.

CHAIR FENN: | think you can still reference the
pages of the testinony. The unredacted testinony you think is
rel evant, | understand M. Russell can't see it. But we're the
ones that have to rule on the notion, so we nmight as well hear
what you have to say.

MS. WALKER: Sure. All right.

So lines 80 through 89, which is on page 4.

CHAI R FENN: o M. Eller's?

M5. WALKER: That's right. | apol ogi ze.
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That identifies the various inputs that were used to
cal cul ate the energy charge.

Simlarly, lines 140 to 141 provide simlar
information with respect to the reservation charge.

|"ve sort of made a list. But essentially,
everything that's been identified fromM. Mtchell's
testi mony, and nost of which has been identified from M.
Eller's, goes to the pricing, and in particular, the energy
charge and how it was cal cul ated, save the one exception for
reservati on charge.

On line 60, which is the reference on page 3 that
M. Russell referenced, the |l ocation and -- although I think
actually line 60 only speaks to the duration.

The | anguage of the rule is pricing information and
pricing inplenmentation information. W would submit that the
duration of the contract is sort of critical, in particular
when paired with other information, of course, but it certainly
affects how the price was reached. It's also confidential
custoner information. And for that reason, we've designated it
as such. But that is truly the exception: the location and the
duration and the renmainder truly speak to the inputs of the
energy charge and the reservati on charge.

| did want to correct the record briefly. On page 5
of our opposition, we included a statenent that, with respect

to the work papers -- and we flagged it for deletion in the
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final editing process and it didn't cone out. It's the fina
sentence of the first paragraph there on the page. |It's just
not an accurate statenent.

The work papers, which have been identified as
potentially being appropriate for M. Russell and M. Bieber to
review, speak to the calculation of the benefits and the
resource sel ection, but both of those then beconme a part of the
pricing. And so they're protected; | just think we probably
overstate the matter when we say that it's a precise nmethod for
calculation. And | didn't want to be m sleading to the
Commi ssi on.

So, in sum with respect to the substance of the

statements, | don't think that they actually provide the
information that M. Russell is seeking. They don't go to how
exi sting custonmers will be affected; they go to how this price

was determined so that it could be assessed to this particul ar
| arge-1 oad custoner.

I nstead, the information that UAE is seeking is the
i nformati on regarding the various credits that will be applied
and the way that this will be excluded from net power costs.
M. Eller and M. Mtchell both speak to that and coul d
certainly answer questions, | believe, in a public way today.

Finally, circling back to the sufficiency of the
protections. As | said, | think that this is a novel

situation, it's a unique situation. And so where the kind of
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limting to counsel and experts subject to an NDA ni ght be
perm ssible in other contexts here is particularly sensitive.

The other issue, and | don't think we nade this point
in our brief, is that Rocky Mountain Power is a conpetitor in
this space. While how information is treated m ght not be the
primary factor for customers deternmining fromwhomthey wll
receive electric service, certainly how their information is
handl ed is sonmething that customers wll consider.

And so if Rocky Mountain Power has to provide in a
very public way, or even this nore limted way proposed by UAE,
information that its conpetitors will not have to -- that
doesn't go to the statutory requirements directly, that wil
pl ace Rocky Mountain Power in a conpetitive disadvantage. And
I think the | anguage of the regulations are that the
alternative protective neasures have to ensure that sort of
conpetitive protection for conpetitively sensitive information.

And so | think just the pure environnment and the way
t hat disclosure of information could affect Rocky Mountain
Power's ability to conpete in this space.

CHAIR FENN: So just help me understand. M. Russell
is saying he doesn't need the pricing terms or the credit
ternms, he doesn't need doll ar ampunts, he doesn't need the
specific economic terms, the sensitive pricing information; he
sinply wants to see the nethodol ogy by which the accounting

mechani sm was arrived at.
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Why is the methodol ogy a highly sensitive Regul atory
Access Only piece of information?

MS. WALKER: | think the nethodol ogy woul d provide
sort of the ability to | ook at the circunstances and
essentially to back into the price term It wouldn't give you
a dollar figure, -- you know, a total kind of all-in dollar
figure -- but it would allow for to back into a nunmber and to,
even maybe not focusing on the nunber, to understand the way
t hat Rocky Mbuntain Power is thinking about how this price
shoul d be structured and how -- I'msorry, I'mtrying to pick
my words because | don't want to accidentally disclose
information in the process of answering.

CHAI R FENN: Yeah, sure.

MS. WALKER: Essentially what he's asking for are the
vari abl es of the equation. And so while -- and then those
vari abl es could potentially have other public information that
the equation could be performed and a number cal cul at ed.

CHAIR FENN: So knowi ng the various factors that you
considered in arriving at a price, the mechanism you think
that in and of itself provides sensitive information to
possi bl e conpetitors that they could then extrapolate fromthe
mechanismto obtain informati on that woul d be conpetitively
sensitive or damaging to you?

MS. WALKER:  Yes.

CHAIR FENN: How do you respond to that, M. Russell?

Page 20

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

MR, RUSSELL: It's hard to respond to that because |
don't know how these charges were put together or whether
there's any -- whether the sort of backing in that is being
descri bed could actually happen. | can tell you that | have no
interest in the actual nunbers; | just want to make sure that
the way that the price is deternm ned, without regard to what
the price is, but that what it does and how it is treated in
the accounting mechanismw || protect other custoners.

I don't know whether | can back into the price,
whet her that representation is sonething that we could actually

do without all of the other nunbers that we woul d be deprived

of. And it would remain, you know, | think appropriately
redact ed.

| don't know whether | could actually do that. | can
tell you that's not ny interest; | just want to nake sure that

whatever it is that is the mechanismhere is protecting the
ot her customers. And | think that's, you know, a legitimte
concern of somebody who's in nmy position.

And | will say however we decide all of this probably
is going to apply on a sort of going-forward basis. | think
that's part of what this is about.

If we were in a position where a |large-scale
generation provider were here and seeking approval and Rocky
Mount ai n Power wanted to know how sone of this information were

put together: you know, | don't know whether they'd be naking
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the sane argunents that |'m maki ng now, but | think we'd want
to have enough information there to make sure that the utility
is protected and that other custoners are protected in that
circunstance, too, for a connected |large-load custoner, at the
very | east.

And so | think let's take a bigger view about how
t hese things may inpact future proceedi ngs, too.

CHAIR FENN:  Well, | understand that. | guess a
factor here that seems to ne to be inportant is, you know, for
what ever precedential value this ruling would have, there's a
di stinction here that we may not have in other cases. And that
is you have the Division and the O fice who both have | ooked at
t he unredacted ternms of the contract and have arrived at a
decision that costs are not passed on to other custoners.

| mean, ultimately, isn't that your client's desire,
is that other custoners not be paying the costs of this
contract?

MR. RUSSELL: That's right. That is nmy client's
concern.

CHAIR FENN: Ckay. So it seens to ne that one of the
t hi ngs the Conm ssion needs to wei gh here is whether that
stipulation entered into between the Division and the Ofice
gi ves enough of a sense of confort that those pricing
mechani sns have been adequately considered. And there's been a

decision arrived at between the settling parties that other
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custoners are adequately protected. | understand you don't
have visibility to that, so you can't agree or disagree as to
that, but that is a factor that the Comm ssi on needs to
consider, which | would then address as to your going forward:

|"m not sure that this issue is foreclosed for tine
imenorial if it's resolved today.

MR. RUSSELL: Yeah, | agree. | think the Conmm ssion
can, over time, kind of land in the right spot on this. | do
t hi nk the Comm ssion can and shoul d take into considerati on how
ot her parties have reacted here. | think the Comm ssion should
al so consider the very short tinmeframe in which they' ve had to
do that reacting.

We're taking, you know, what | assume -- because
actually don't know -- what | assunme is a very large |oad here
that has a lot of dollars attached to it. And we're asking the
parties to evaluate that over a very short period of tine.

And, again, this is not a -- you know, by making this
notion, it's not at all a critique of the abilities of the
Division or the Ofice to performthat task. It's just in
order for us to neaningfully participate in this, you know, we
do need access to that information. | think it would be
hel pful to those of us who are all trying to make sure that the
costs are not shifted to have as nmany eyes on this as
reasonably can be had while protecting the information that

shoul d be protected. And that is the balance that | think the

Page 23

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

Conmmi ssi on needs to reach.

CHAIR FENN: So if we were to rule in favor of your

noti on, what would you see the -- how would you see the process
pl ayi ng out? You understand as well as anyone -- you were
i nvol ved on the hill on this -- that we have 60 days to rule on

approval of this contract.

And that is -- the exact date, | have it in ny
office -- it's April 11th, 14th, something like that. Anyway,
it's md-April. So we're a little less than a nmonth away from

when it has to be ruled on.

MR. RUSSELL: Right.

CHAIR FENN: Are you proposing that if we grant your
nmoti on that we adjourn the proceeding today and cone back after
you have | ooked at the material and then rule on it?

MR. RUSSELL: No, | don't think that that would be
necessary. Largely, as | nentioned kind of at the outset, this
is with a view towards how these things are going to be done
going forward. | think the Conm ssion can continue to maybe
take this under advisenent here, can continue to take whatever
evidence it needs to take on the settlenment, whatever cross-
exam nation that we can provide today, and give sone thought as
to how you rule on this.

I mentioned in nmy argunment that we maybe coul d have
filed this notion a bit earlier. | don't think that noots it.

We really were trying to work this out with the utility, and we
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just didn't get there. That would be nmy preference to work it
out .

But in the absence of that, the rule tells nme |'ve
got to file some sort of challenge, and so that's what we did.
Perhaps in the future we'll file that earlier, and we can
address it earlier in a way that doesn't interfere with the
Conmi ssion's adjudication here. | had wondered whet her there
was a nechani sm through which the Commi ssion could rule on the
contract without ruling on the accounting nethod, but | think
the rules require the Comm ssion to find that the contract
itself doesn't lead to the shift of cost. So you have to make
that determination within the same 60-day period. So,
unfortunately, | do think --

CHAI R FENN: Yeah, | don't think that option is
avai |l abl e.

MR. RUSSELL: Yeah. | hoped it was, but going back
to look, it's not there. And so | don't really have a great
reconmendati on for how the Comm ssion is to adjudicate this
particular notion with respect to the hearing that we've
al ready got today, other than to say it's not my goal to delay
the proceedi ngs or have everybody come back; we're largely just
trying to make sure that our interests are protected here and
sort of in other similar proceedings. That doesn't help you
very nmuch, |'msorry.

CHAIR FENN: [It's okay.
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Commi ssi oner Harvey has a question he'd |ike to ask.

MR. RUSSELL: Sure.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Actually, it's -- is that on
okay. It's for RWMP, actually.

The rule contenplates this alternative procedure,
whi ch you' ve both spoken to. M inpression is, based on the

coments that RMP's position is, there is no acceptable

alternative procedure. |Is that a correct understanding of your
position?

MS. WALKER: | think that there is probably an
acceptable alternative procedure for some information. | think

that, you know, to sort of speak in cliche, you know, we're
t al ki ng about the Coke recipe or, you know, we're talking about
sort of the critical equation for howthis is reached. That to
me seens like, first, something that the DPU, the OCS, and npst
i mportantly, the Comm ssion can eval uate and protect other
custoners with. But that is so sensitive that both Rocky
Mountain Power in its efforts to serve future custoners, but
al so the custonmer in this contract, if it were ever to seek,
whether in this jurisdiction or elsewhere, to build, you
know -- or to have |oad served of this magnitude, that that
woul d be a di sadvant age.

So | think that the candid answer to your question
has to be yes with respect to this information. That certainly

doesn't nean that there would be informati on that coul d be
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considered pricing inplenmentation information that could be
made avail able to, you know, a party's representatives,
custoner's representatives, subject to the NDA. | just don't
think that this particul ar nethodol ogy can be, essentially
without critically conpromising their ability to conpete, both
Rocky Mountain Power and its custoner.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: So let nme sunmarize what |'m
understanding and tell me if I'mgetting it right.

M. Russell has represented, and you have not denied
it, that there was efforts to come to an agreenment and that
that did not happen. And based on this |ast answer, the reason
that that didn't happen is Rocky Muntain Power just doesn't
think the information that's been requested can be delivered
under any circunstance.

MS. WALKER: | think there are two reasons:

First is the one that you just identified.

Second is that Rocky Mountain Power truly believes
that the information necessary for UAE to conduct the analysis,
to understand how existing customers will be protected, is
publicly available in this filing already. 1It's been disclosed
in the course of those conversations, and it's al so docunment ed
in the settlenment stipulation that's been filed with the
Commi ssion | ast week.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: But you woul d agree that M.

Russel |l would disagree with that characterization?
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M5. WALKER: | think that's right, and | think that's
why we're here.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Yes, i ndeed.

Okay. | understand that Rocky Mountain Power's
concerns relate to the inmpact on the Conpany's profitability or
potential profitability.

Woul d you agree that one of the Conm ssion's prinmary
concerns i s what happens with respect to other customers, not
wi th what happens with respect to Rocky Mountain Power's
busi ness case?

MS. WALKER: | want to sort of -- | disagree with the
reference to the profitability of Rocky Mountain Power. Rocky
Mountain Power's ability to conmpete in this space does help
protect its existing customers, its current custoner in this
agreenent. And so | don't think that -- Rocky Mountain Power
isn't here opposing this notion sinply to make the nost noney,
but rather because of the way that this agreenment fits within
the larger context of its ability to serve custoners here in
Uah. And so | do think that protecting this information does
protect other custoners.

| apol ogi ze. There was sonething else | wanted to
say. Did that fully answer your question, or there m ght have
been another part that |'ve --

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: | think | understand RWP' s

position there. That's all | have right now.
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CHAI R FENN: Ckay. Conmi ssioner Clark has a
guesti on.

COW SSI ONER CLARK: This is for M. Russell

Why doesn't paragraph 12 in this settlenment satisfy
your interests in, you know, the nethodol ogy that's involved?

M5. WALKER: Bear with me just a nonent. Let ne get
this settlenment up.

There it is. ©Oh, got it, yes.

I think we're actually going to talk about this with
some of the wi tnesses today, but paragraph 12 does identify how
certain types of costs would -- that the handling of certain
types of costs would protect other custonmers. There are other
costs that are going to be incurred as a result or that wll
rise as a result of the provision of service to this custoner,
"Il be specific.

This is an issue that we spoke about with Rocky
Mount ai n Power, and that is -- and | assume they'll be prepared
to address it today, but in a rate case, when you have the
costs that are associated with the transni ssion system the
first thing that happens is that we |look at all the rate base
associated with the transm ssion system we find the revenue
requi renment, the annual revenue requirenent for that and that
goes into part of rates. |Included in that is a reduction of
some of those costs for the revenues associated wi th other

transm ssi on custoners.
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So PacifiCorp's merchant function is one of the
transm ssion custoners, and what we do is we take out the costs
associated with the usage of the system by other custoners.

And where we land is that Rocky Muntain Power's or

Pacifi Corp's, | should say, retail custonmers pay the costs
associated with its merchant function's use of the system In
the event that its merchant function provides nore service, it
reduces the amount of credits we get from other transni ssion
customners.

What we can't see fromhere and fromthe informtion
that's available to us is how other custonmers are nmade whol e or
protected fromthat increase in costs or -- it results in an
increase in costs because it's a decrease in the credits that
you get back fromother custonmers in a rate case setting.

Normally the ratio, | think it's roughly 80 to 20,
meani ng that 80 percent of the costs of the system are
attributed to Pacifi Corp's merchant function, 20 percent are
general ly attributed to other transm ssion custonmers. \Wen you
add a new large load, it's going to increase the ratio to
somet hing north of 80: 82, 83, whatever it is. So it's going
to decrease the rest of it.

So while the information that's included in paragraph
12 is helpful, it's inconplete in our view And | think in
order to satisfy our interest on that particular issue, we'd

need to know -- there are all sorts of assertions about
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benefits from other custoners. We woul d need to know how this
issue that I"'mtrying to describe -- and ny witness would do a
much better job of describing, by the way -- |ike what the
increase in costs is associated with that line item and how
that's addressed through sone of the other benefits that are
argued to be the result of this contract.

And it may well be that overall the custoner -- you
know, there are sufficient benefits where we can say all of the
i ncremental costs are addressed. W just can't tell that, and
that's sort of the position that we're in.

COWM SSI ONER CLARK: | guess what |'m going to
conclude from-- and thank you for your informtion. But wel |,
it seems to ne that we mght go forward with the hearing, hear
your cross-exam nation and your witness's testinony, and that
nm ght shed some light on the disposition of the nmotion that's
in front of us. So | just offer that as an observati on.

CHAI R FENN: Yeah, that's what | was about to cover
But first | want to see whether the Division or the Ofice have
any comrents they'd like to make about the pending notion

Ms. Schm d?

M5. SCHM D: The Division has taken no position on
t he notion.

CHAI R FENN: M. Moore?

MR. MOORE: The Office has taken no position.

Il
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[ RULI NG

CHAIR FENN: Ckay. Well, | think M. Russell gave us
the solution in the very short term which is we'll go ahead
with this hearing today; we'll have the parties put on their

witness with respect to support of the settlenent stipulation,
and you can ask questions as you have them

So we'll go forward with that, and we may either rule
at the end of the day on the notion or we may take it under
advi sement. But let's get as nuch as we can on the record to
hel p us further evaluate our resolution of this pending issue.

So having said that, Ms. Schmid, Ms. Smith?

[ ON CONFI DENTI AL | NFORMATI ON DURI NG HEARI NG|

M5. SMTH: Yes, | was just going to suggest that if
we do proceed that way, that the Comm ssioners just indulge all
of us attorneys in flagging any slight nmovenent into

confidential information, because a lot of this contract is

confidential with a portion highly confidential. So when we
get in, all witnesses -- we've touched base with each other, |
believe -- are prepared to give an unredacted public sumary,

but we are all well prepared for any questions to conme. W
would really need to be careful as we go through that process.
And because we don't have a ruling on UAE's notion, we would
have to consider that with every highly confidential topic that
we step into.

CHAIR FENN: That's a very good point.

Page 32

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

MS5. SMTH: And I'msorry, | msspoke. The OCS's
wi t ness does have a Regul ator Access Only section

And Bob, please correct ne if | msstated that.

MR. MOORE: We prepared two sections because we did
not know how the proceedi ng woul d be dealing with the highly
confidential information. M. Irmas has a conplete
non-confidential version of his statement and can give that and
stay away fromthe highly confidential material.

CHAI R FENN: Okay. All right.

Well, that's what | suggest we do is that we -- so
first of all, the Conm ssion has reviewed the testinony and al
of the highly confidential information. W have that
i nformati on before us. We have, | think, the ability to parse
t hrough the information if we get a non-confidential summary.

And if a question cones up that's going to require
di scl osure of highly confidential information, we'll have to
deal with it at that tinme and we nmay have to exclude certain
parties fromthe hearing roomwhile that occurs.

M5. SMTH: G eat. Thank you. That's all the
Conpany asks.

CHAIR FENN: Ckay. We'll try to be very sensitive to
t hat and concerned about that.

Commi ssi oner Harvey wants to grab sonething, so we're
going to take a short break

[OOf the record at 9:49 a.m]
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[Back on record at 9:51 a.m]
[ ON SETTLEMENT STI PULATI ON]
[ ROCKY MOUNTAI N POVER]
CHAIR FENN: Let's turn to Rocky Mountain Power and
let's have you call your first w tness.
MS. WALKER: Thank you. Rocky Mountain Power calls
M. Craig Eller.
CHAIR FENN: Ckay. M. Eller. 1It's nice to see you
again, M. Eller. WlIlcone.
CRAI G ELLER,
a witness herein, having been adm nistered an oath,
was exam ned and testified as foll ows.
EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. WALKER:

Q Good norning, M. Eller. Can you please state and
spell your nane for the record?

A Yes. Craig M Eller; CGRAI-G M E-L-L-E-R

Q By whom are you enpl oyed and what is your position?

A. Rocky Mountain Power, and |'mthe Senior Vice
Presi dent of Business Devel opnent and Custonmer Experience.

Q Can you pl ease provide the Conm ssion a brief
description of your background and rel evant experience rel ated
to this matter?

A Yeah. |'ve been with Rocky Mountain Power for a

little over five years, currently responsible for all of our
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generation devel opnment efforts, all of our demand response
progranms, our call center. And then relevant to this docket,
all of our devel opnments with new | arge-| oad custoners.

Q And did you file direct testinmony along with Exhibits

CME 1 through CME 3 in this case?

A | did.

Q And you also filed your work papers, is that right?
A Correct.

Q Did you also file rebuttal testinony?

A | did.

Q Do you have any changes or corrections to either your

direct or rebuttal testinonies?

A No.

Q If | asked you the same questions today, would your
answers be the sanme?

A. Yes.

Q Thank you.

MS. WALKER: Rocky Mountain Power noves for the
adm ssion of the prefiled direct testinony, exhibits, work
papers, and rebuttal testinony of M. Eller.

CHAIR FENN: AIl right. 1Is there any objection to
the admi ssion of the testinony, exhibits, and work papers?

MS5. SCHM D: No obj ection

MR. MOORE: No objection.

CHAIR FENN:  AIl right. As we go forward, if you
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have an objection, I'Il ask you to state it, but I'mgoing to
assunme that we're -- |I'll just say "Seeing no objection, we'l
admt it."

So we're going to admt the testinony, the exhibits,
wor k papers -- well, your direct testinony and your rebuttal
testimony. Thank you.

[ Testi mony, Exs., Wbrk Papers of M. Eller Admtted]

MS. WALKER: Thank you.

BY MS. WALKER
Q M. Eller, do you have a summary prepared for the

Conmi ssi on?

A | do.

Q Pl ease proceed with it.

A. Good norni ng, Chair Fenn, Commi ssioner Clark, and
Conmmi ssioner Harvey. | appreciate the opportunity to provide

testinmony in this docket seeking approval of the Conpany's
first Large Load Service Contract, or LLSC

The LLSC is subject to Utah's Senate Bill 132,
enacted in March 2025, and codified at Ut ah Code Sections 54-
26- 101 through 54-26-901, after which | will refer to as the
Large Load Act, as well as Utah Administrative Rul es R746-318,
which I will refer to as the Large Load Rul es.

My direct and rebuttal testinonies detail how the
proposed LLSC and proposed accounting treatnent nmeets the

rel evant statutory requirements for |arge |oad contracts.

Page 36

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

Consequently, nmny testinony concludes that the proposed LLSC is
reasonable and in the public interest, and I recommend that the
Ut ah Public Service Comm ssion approve the proposed LLSC and
proposed accounting treatnent.

Under the proposed LLSC, Rocky Mountain Power will
provide the customer with full requirements retail service.

The proposed LLSC requires the custonmer to pay consideration in
multiple forms: including a fixed cost conponent, or the
reservation charge; a variable cost conmponent, or the energy
charge; and applicable surcharges, riders, and taxes, or the
surcharges. In total, the structure is estimated to produce
substantial savings to the Conpany's other custoners and Ut ah
residents, the details of which are quantified in ny
confidential testinony.

The reservation charge conpensates the capital costs
of the custoner load facility allowance, or the nmetering costs,
the bridgi ng market capacity purchases, increnental generation
resources, and the Conpany's return on its investnent at a rate
that will prevent any subsidization from existing custoners.

No increnmental transnission costs are incurred as a result of
t he proposed LLSC.

The conpany is responsible for constructing custoner
load facilities and identifying new resources to support system
reliability, the costs of which the Conpany will bear and

recover through the reservation charge. The revenue fromthe
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reservation charge will be renoved fromthe Conpany's revenue
requi rement and net power cost determ nations.

In addition, the costs of the custoner's | oad
facilities, bridging market capacity purchases, increnmenta
generation resources, and the Conpany's return will also be
renoved fromrevenue requirenents to prevent any subsidization
fromexisting custoners.

The energy conpensates for the marginal costs of
energy used during the customer's periods of usage. While the
details of the energy charge cal cul ati on are Regul at or Access
Only, the energy charge will provide opportunities for existing
resources to be econonically dispatched to neet custoner | oad,
providing margin benefits to other system custoners, as well as
accounting for | osses and the paynment for the use of
transm ssi on.

The estimated net benefit to customers fromthe
energy charge structure is quantified in nmy confidenti al
testi nony.

The surcharges require the custonmer to pay standard
tariff surcharges and riders applicable to retail |oad service,
with a few exceptions and linmtations, as well as applicable
state and nunici pal taxes. The standard surcharges create
direct benefit for other Utah custoners, as the LLSC customer
will not materially add to the cost of these areas and prograns

while providing significant revenue into each of the surcharge
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areas and prograns. The LLSC customer is also required to pay
applicable state and nunici pal taxes, creating a direct benefit
for the state of Utah and its residents.

The estimated net benefits to custonmers fromthe
surcharges and taxes are quantified in my confidential
t esti nony.

After review of the Conpany's application and
testimony, the Department of Public Utilities and the O fice of
Consumer Advocates submtted testinony |argely supporting the
proposed LLSC and proposed accounting treatnent. That being
said, each also noted concerns regarding the treatnment of the
LLSC in nulti-state allocations.

Thr ough subsequent responses to data requests and ny
rebuttal testinmony, the Conmpany clarified that the accounting
treatment woul d prevent any increased shares of system costs
being allocated to Utah. These actions include renoving the
LLSC and associ ated peaks fromthe cal cul ati on of system
energy, or SE, and system generation, or SG, allocation
factors.

To further clarify the record and resol ve uncertainty
regarding the accounting treatnment for the LLSC in future net
power cost, rate case, and system all ocation proceedi ngs during
the termof the LLSC, the DPU, the OCS, and the Conpany entered
into a settlenment stipulation which was filed with the

Commi ssion March 13th, 2026. The settlenment stipulation sought
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to clarify the accounting treatnment without reliance on
confidential or Regulator Access Only information by

stipul ating specific accounting treatnment for the purpose of
ot her custonmers, regardless of actual charge amounts and
structures under the LLSC. These stipulated treatnents can be
sunmari zed as foll ows:

The coincident peak | oads and energy usage of the
LLSC will be removed fromthe cal cul ati on of the SE and SG
al l ocation factors.

The conpany shall reduce system net power cost in
each hour in an ampbunt equal to the actual energy usage by the
customer tinmes the hourly |ocational marginal price, or LM,
reported by the California |Independent System Operator, or
CAI SO, during the extended day-ahead narket, or EDAM

The conpany will exclude all costs associated with
the proposed resources and the interimmarket purchases from
t he Conpany's system costs of service and system net power
costs, and treating all other large | oad costs consistent with
the treatnent described in the testinony of conpany witness
Ranon M tchell, as well as ny own testinony.

The settlenment stipulation also states that each of
the signing parties find the LLSC to be just and reasonable in
the public interest, meeting the requirenments of the Large Load
Act and the Large Load Rul es, and request that the LLSC be

approved by the Comm ssion in an order on or before March 20.
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The conpany al so notes that the Utah Association of
Energy Users, or UAE, stated simlar concerns as the DPU and
OCS originally held about the sufficiency of the LLSC and
proposed accounting treatnent in preventing added costs to its
constituents due, in this instance, to a |l ack of access to
Regul at or Access Only information. The conpany continues to
believe that the information provided during the discovery
process, settlenent discussions, and through nmy rebuttal
testinmony sufficiently addressed these concerns by clarifying
the treatment of the LLSC |oads in regard to the SE and SG
al l ocation factors.

To the extent this information is insufficient, the
Conpany further points to the certainty that would be provided
to UAE and all Utah custoners should the Comm ssion approve the
settlenment stipulation, which affirnms these treatnments, and
goes on to specify treatnment of net power costs for the
pur poses of determ ning Ut ah rates w thout disclosing
proprietary information of both the LLSC custoner and the
Conpany, which is granted protection under the Large Load Act
and Large Load Rul es.

I n concl usion, the Conpany believes its record in
this docket denonstrates that the proposed LLSC and the
proposed accounting treatnent is just, reasonable, and in the
interest of Uah custoners. These conclusions are further

supported by the terns of the settlenment stipulation signed by
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t he Conpany, the DPU, and the OCS.

The settlenment stipulation also clarifies the
accounting treatnent regarding these allocation factors and net
power costs to ensure the LLSC will result in no net increases
to the costs of other Utah customers. As a result, the Conpany
recomrends approval of the LLSC, the proposed accounting
treatnment, and the settlenment stipulation.

In order to conmmence service to the LLSC custoner as
qui ckly as possible, to accelerate net benefits to all Utah
custoners as outlined in the record, and consistent with the
settlenent stipulation, the Conpany respectfully requests a
comm ssion order by March 20th, 2026.

Thank you, and that concludes nmy summary.

CHAI R FENN: Ckay. Thank you, M. Eller

Anyt hing el se, Ms. Wl ker?

M5. WALKER: No, thank you. M. Eller is available
for party and conm ssion questions.

CHAIR FENN: COkay. Let's turn first of all to
Ms. Schmi d.

M5. SCHM D: | have one clarifying question, if |
may.

CHAI R FENN: Pl ease.

BY Ms. SCHM D
Q In your summary, | heard you say just and reasonable.

I may have missed the last part that's in the settlenent
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statute, that is, just and reasonable in result.
Is it your testinony here today that the settl enent
stipulation is just and reasonable in result, as well as in the

public interest?

A Just and reasonable in result?

Q In result, uh-huh.

A And that's a phrase in the settlenment stipulation?
I'msorry.

Q It's a phrase in the statute that deals with

settl enments that establishes the basis for the Conm ssion to
eval uate a stipul ati on.
CHAIR FENN: Is it in the ternms of the settlenent
agreenent, Ms. Schm d?
M5. SCHM D: | do not know.
M5. SMTH: Yes, it is; paragraph 8.
CHAI R FENN: Ckay. That's what | thought. Thank
you.
So you m ght reference paragraph 8.
THE WTNESS: | see it now, thank you
A Yes, that is in paragraph 8 of the settlenent
stipul ation.
Q And that is part of your testinony here today?
A Correct.
M5. SCHM D: Thank you. | have no further questions.

CHAI R FENN: Thank you, Ms. Schm d
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M. Moore.

MR. MOORE: The Office has no questions, thank you.

CHAIR FENN: Ckay. Let's turn to M. Russell

MR. RUSSELL: | do. | think we can keep it kind of
brief.

BY MR, RUSSELL:

Q | want to state at the outset, |I'mnot going to try
to get you to say anything confidential -- like we've had this
di scussion. If | ask you a question that you can only answer
by referring to that, please let me know and |I'I| either
rephrase it or we'll find our way through it, okay?

A Yep.

Q In your sunmary, you nade a couple of statenents.
One is that the contract will not result in any increnmenta

transm ssion costs, and | want to dig into that a little bit.
s that a reference to the transm ssion facilities or

to sonmet hing el se?

A The transm ssion facilities.

Q. Right. And there are no new transmi ssion facilities
that are going to be added to costs that would be i nposed on
ot her custonmers here; that's your testinony, right?

A Correct.

Q Okay. You've been in the roomwhen | had the
di scussion with Conm ssioner Clark, | assune. OCkay.

Is that a yes?
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A Yes; sorry.

Q Ckay. | want to talk about the costs of transm ssion
service a little bit: not the facilities that go into rate
base, but how the costs of those facilities are distributed
anong the users of the transm ssion system And maybe let's
just establish a baseline here, or nmaybe you can just do it
wi t hout me having to ask a bunch of questions.

Can you descri be how costs of the transm ssion system
are distributed out anongst the transm ssion custoners and then
to the retail custoners of Pacifi Corp?

If you want me to do it, | can do it, but it's
probably nore efficient to have you do it.

A Yep. So | think -- and I'Il keep it at a high |evel

First, all of the various cost of service components
on our nmulti-state transm ssion system are allocated anongst
our six states that we provide retail electric service in. And
there are allocation nmethodol ogi es that are broadly agreed upon
by the various states that | ook at those costs and all ocate
them down to each of the states on their usage. And there's
particular formulas that do that |ooking at the total energy
use and the total contribution to coincident peaks that each of
the states have to allocate 100 percent of those costs down to
each of the states.

And so those allocation factors | kind of touched on

in my sunmary as the SE and the SG factors.
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We al so provide whol esal e transni ssion services on an
open access tariff regulated by the FERC, and it establishes
its own set of rates for those services. And so when third
parties use the transni ssion system they pay the rates
established in our FERC tariff, and those revenues are then
simlarly distributed down to each of the states to help offset
the costs of service that they were all ocated.

s that --

Q Yeah, that's hel pful.

And so | do want to talk about the
interjurisdictional allocation for a monent, but let's start
with the allocation anong the transni ssion custoners,

Paci ficCorp's nerchant function being one and the other
transm ssion custoners being the other.

How are those costs -- you mentioned that the
revenues associated with the costs to other transm ssion
custoners is distributed anong the states, but how are the
costs of the transm ssion system allocated anong the
transm ssi on custoners thensel ves?

A Yeah. So | amnot in our transm ssion function, so |
will again speak to it at a kind of cursory high |evel

But in our FERC tariff, rates for all whol esal e
custoners are established annually in a formul a-based rate.

And in that calculation, there are simlar to any, you know,

rat e- maki ng procedure where it |ooks at the total cost of
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service -- again in this instance |ooking specifically at
transm ssion costs -- and then dividing those over, broadly,
billing determ nants, which is usage, to establish a rate that

each user pays.

Q And if you don't know the answer to this, that's
fine. 1Isn't it based on a determ nation of usage at the
coi nci dent peak of the transm ssion systenf

A | believe at |east sone of the fact -- | nean, sone
rates are based on coincident peak; others |I think are based
on -- like point-to-point service is a fixed rate, et cetera.

So it depends on the types of service and where it
gets calculated. But many of them do | ook at coincident peak
yes.

Q Ckay. And just keeping it at a high level, if the
usage by the PacificCorp's nmerchant function grows at a rate
that is higher than the ratio that other custoners use it,
don't the costs that are attributed and ultimately come down to
PacificCorp's retail custonmers also grow?

A If the proportion of retail -- can you restate the
guestion, sorry?

Q Yeah, and we'll nmaybe take it a bit at a tine.

| believe it's the case that the ratio of the costs
of the transm ssion system have in the past generally -- this
is a general -- been roughly about 80 percent of those costs

have been attributed to PacificCorp and 20 percent of the costs
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have been attributed to the other users of the transm ssion
system
Is that consistent with your understanding?

A That's consistent, yes.

Q Okay. And if PacificCorp's usage of the system grows
at a rate that is greater than that ratio, don't the costs that
are attributed to PacificCorp also grow, the cost of the
syst ent?

A | would maybe phrase it slightly differently. |
think the costs are the cost. So all things being equal, the
costs are static.

If our use of the system were growing, -- there were
nore billing determ nants, if you will -- the rates for
transm ssion services would go down. So | don't think it's
that there's nore costs; | just think there are -- all things
bei ng equal, that may have sone effect on the OATT rate.

But I think the 80-20 ratio that | think a |ot of
peopl e use, nyself included, is one that has been a pretty good

hi storical average and not necessarily inpacted by this anount

of load. It's a very big system And this is a |large |oad,
but it is not -- would not change that factor by significant
amount s.

Q And if | wanted to deternine the inpact that this
custoner woul d have, would | need to know the demand that this

custonmer woul d have?
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A | don't think it would be their demand; | think it
woul d be their actual contribution towards system peak. Like
there wouldn't be an inpact until some sort of actual
contribution was established.

Q Okay. But | would need to know their contribution to
system peak?

A. Yes.

Q Okay. And while you said that, you know, all things
being equal, let's say that the total cost of the system--
because we're not adding new facilities, so the total cost of
the systemrenmnins static. But that proportion, if the |oad
that PacifiCorp is serving is big enough to affect the 80-20
rati o, could push the number 80 up and the nunmber 20 down.

Is that right?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And the result of that would be that a | arger
percentage of the costs of that system would be attributed to
Paci fi Corp's custoners. | don't know enough to know whet her
that's happening here. |'mjust asking, in the nechanism is
that how it works?

A Again, | would just phrase it slightly differently in
that the anmpbunt of revenue received froma static quantity of
third parties would decrease slightly. So it's not -- | would
just talk to it froma revenue perspective than a cost.

Q Yeah, sure. | appreciate that. | think we're saying
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t he sane thing.

And the reason is that because of the way that the
FERC formul a rate works, when Pacifi Corp's usage of the system
goes above that 80 percent portion and the other transnission
custoners' usage goes below, the revenues to pay that sane
amount of the system would go down. And so then what happens
to the revenues that PacifiCorp's retail custonmers would have
to pay, the revenue requirenent that those custoners woul d have
to pay?

A So I think they would see -- and the reason |I'm
parsing this detail on the credit versus the cost is because
the individual states and the FERC may not apply the sane
factors to the cost of service and things like this. They
woul d come up with different costs of service for materially
t he sane assets.

So there would be fewer credits and whi ch woul d

result in nmore potential -- again, in this kind of hypothetical
case -- for cost of service to not be offset by transm ssion
revenues.

Q Okay. And you spoke in your summary -- and thank you
for that.

You spoke in your sunmary about the allocation
factors and how the treatment of this contract won't change the
percentage allocation to Utah. Can you explain that a little

bit nore?
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A Yes. So in the allocation of costs between states,
we | ook at contributions fromat a state | evel to annual energy
consunption, or the SE, and then a contribution towards
coi nci dent peaks for each of the nonths, or the SG

And so as | oads nove proportionally fromstate to
state, you could see different anounts of those system costs,
as well as the third-party FERC revenues be allocated to
various states. So despite not adding to any costs on the
system if we did not renpve the LLSC custoner's contributions
to the SG and the SE factors, you would anticipate nore of
t hose sanme static basket of costs to be allocated to Utah.

By removing the LLSC fromthose factors, -- again,
based on the facts of this docket where we're also renoving the
incremental costs associated with serving that customer, in
particul ar the proposed resources and the interim market
purchases: we're also removing those things fromthe cost of
service -- that original basket of costs stays allocated as if
the LLSC did not exist.

Q. And why was it inportant to renpve this custoner's
contribution fromthe allocation to Utah?

A. So that, again, this kind of static basket of
exi sting costs doesn't have a |arger allocation towards Utah
custoners.

Q Okay. But if it at the systemlevel reduces the

credits or revenues received fromother custoners, while the
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all ocation to Utah wouldn't change, the amount that is being
al l ocated ni ght?

A. Say it one nore tine.

Q Yeah. While you' ve taken the effort to renove it
fromthe allocator so that the percentage of the costs that are
allocated to Utah won't change, the overall anount of the costs
mght if service to that customer reduces revenues from
third-party transm ssion custonmers that we di scussed before;
right?

A. | don't know that | foll ow I think, again, there
are far nore costs being allocated than the SG and the SE
al l ocation factor than are in our OATT transm ssion rate. For
exanple, all of our existing generation is not in our OATT
rates.

And so there's a nuch broader category of costs and
kind of a smaller pool of divisors. And so it is an inportant
pi ece that we took into consideration

| think we also ook at all of the benefits and we do
make contributions under the settlenent stipulation towards
certain transm ssion costs in the treatnment of net power costs.
By using the CAI SO LMP pricing, there is a factor of
congestion, so there is revenue tied to that.

And | think any potential contribution from
this -- again, | think -- possible change in FERC revenues is

easily dwarfed by the other benefits to the system i ncluding
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the addition of the proposed resources to addi ng system
efficiency to the surcharges providing direct benefits.
So | think it's in that full context that we say

there is a clear net benefit to the LLSC

Q Yeah, | understand that to be your point. And |
guess backing way up here, the Conmpany's position in presenting
this contract and in reaching this settlenent stipulation is
that there are no nore costs than benefits. And in fact, your

representation is that there are nore benefits than costs;

right?
A Correct.
Q As a whol e.
A Correct.
Q And in order for parties to sort of check your

assunptions on that, they would need to have access to
i nformati on about how the benefits and the costs are
cal cul ated; right?

A. | don't think so. | think, again, for the energy
costs, as opposed to offering howis the energy cost
cal cul ated, we give a certainty to the UAE and ot her custoners
in the settlenment stipulation by pointing to the LMP.

So | think that can be used by parties to say, you
know, "What is this? Are there benefits in using this
met hodol ogy wi thout necessarily | ooking at the proprietary

i nformati on?"
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A Well, | think the overall calcul ation, the overal
amount of the benefits from various categories, although not
all of them were provided in the confidential -- and |I'm not
going to get into those.

So there is some access to information. But in order
for us to determine the validity of those nunbers, wouldn't we
need to know what's infornm ng them how they're created?

A | believe -- | nmean, | don't think in direction and
magni tude it's necessary. But if you were trying to drill down

to the exact calculation, then yes.

Q Okay. In order to determ ne, for instance, we've
been tal king about the potential -- using your word, the
potential -- for increased systemcosts related to the

provi sion of service to this custoner, you m ght need to know,

I think you nmentioned it's the custoner's contribution to

system peak. And then in order -- let's all stop there. |Is
that right? | think we tal ked about that earlier.
A. Sorry, to be -- | keep doing this. | wouldn't

characterize what | said as a potential for added system costs.
Again, | think there's a hypothetical kind of narrow
opportunity cost, if you will.

So it's a reduction of transm ssion revenue, not a
cost .

Okay.

A But otherwi se, yes. |If you're trying to back
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cal cul ate that, you would need the actual contribution to
coi nci dent peak.

Q Okay. And then to determ ne whether that's offset by
the other benefits, and | guess we have the top |line nunmbers in
confidential formfor the other benefits, but not the way to
get to those calcul ations, as we nmentioned; right?

A But again, | think in future proceedi ngs, those
anpunts, you know, contributions towards various surcharges, et
cetera, would be known quantities that could be reviewed.

Q But they weren't provided in this proceedi ng, though;
ri ght?

A The details of the cal cul ati on were provided
Regul at or Access Only. The roll-up of the cumul ative benefits
were provided -- and | say roll up of cunulative: there was a
ki nd of by category presentation in the confidential testinony
t hat gave benefits associated with the energy charge,

surcharges, and taxes to get a cumul ative net benefit nunber.

Q Yeah. | assune you have your direct testinmony there?
A | do.

Q "Il just point you to page 12 of your testinony.

A. Ckay. ©COh, I'"'mon ny rebuttal

Q Yeah, sorry, your direct testinony.

There's a di scussion there about the collection of
revenues for certain line itemcharges, right?

A. Correct.
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Q And the ampbunts that are associated in lines 267
t hrough 270 are redacted, right?

A Correct.

Q Okay. And then where do we get the discussion of the
overall contribution fromthe energy charge and the reservation
charge, where is that?

A Al right. So the energy charge -- |I'll take themin
the order presented.

So the reservation charge, we do not state a benefit
tied to the reservation charge. The reservation charge, al ong
with all of the increnental costs of service for the LLSC, are
excluded fromrate nmaking. So all of that happens outside the

cost of service.

Q Ckay.

A On the energy charge, we give a cunul ative benefit.
All right, | state it confidentially at line 238. The det ai
of how that nunber was calculated is kind of the main -- well,

that and the reliability of the proposed resources is the
subj ect of conpany witness Tom Burns' testinony.

So the detail of how the [testinony stricken] -- the
detail of how the confidential anmpunt at line 238 is in
M. Burns' testinony.

CHAIR FENN: We're going to strike that number from
t he record.

M5. SMTH: Thank you
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THE W TNESS: Appreciate it.

CHAIR FENN: So will you strike that.

THE STENOGRAPHER: So stricken

THE W TNESS: Sorry.

A And then we state, as you noted, at line 253 the
benefit fromthe surcharges, which are kind of subcomponent
detailed at lines 267 through 270. And the determ nati on of
t hose amounts is supported in ny Regul ator Access Only work
paper .

And then the | ast category of benefits is at |ine 308
and 309. So these are the state and nunicipal taxes associ ated
wi th providing service under the LLSC. The cal cul ati on of
t hose ampunts is also found in ny Regul ator Access Only work
paper .

Q Okay. Thank you for that.

|"mgoing to direct you to page 6 of your direct
testimony, if you don't mind. Just one |ast issue.

There are sonme nunbers here that are provided
confidentially. W don't need to discuss the actual nunbers.
There is one number that remains Regul ator Access Only.

Can you tell nme categorically what that nunmber is,
it's on line 132.

A Yeah. So at 132, it is actually not a nunber.

Q Okay.

A It is a reference to how the energy charge is
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det er mi ned.
Q Ckay. Fair enough.

Al right. | don't have anything further. Thank
you, M. Eller.

CHAI R FENN: Ckay. Thank you, M. Russell.

Do you have any redirect, M. Wal ker?

MS. WALKER: No, thank you.

CHAIR FENN: All right. Let's turn to the
Commi ssioners and see if they have any questi ons.

Conmi ssi oner Harvey.

BY COWMM SSI ONER HARVEY:
Q I"mjust trying to make sure | understand the point
about costs here.

You tal k about certain costs associated with the
contract will be excluded fromthe revenue requirenent and the
net power costs. You tal ked about that, right?

A That's correct.

Q Okay. Where do they go?

A So the things that are excluded fromrevenue
requi renments are just -- it's the separate accounting treatnent
contenpl ated under S.B. 132. So basically they are retained by
t hose costs and the revenues are retained by the Conpany. And
so we basically have the risk on whether those revenues are
sufficient to cover the costs or insufficient.

Q Well, they're essentially a little subsidiary that's
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doing this stuff?

A | mean, we're not contenplating setting up different
|l egal entities or things like that, but it is basically costs
and revenues that would be excluded from our regul ated cost of
service

Q And the mechani smthat ensures that happens is sinply
t he agreenent?

A | think it's also the future rate cases and things
like that. So it's going through when we say, "Here is our
cost of service for all of our generating resources associ ated
with our system"™ It would be us showing "Here are the
proposed resources and here's how we are not including those
costs in our billing determ nants for all of our other system
generation costs."”

So they would be held outside of rates.

Q | guess what I'mtrying to think about is several
years down the road, if there's a dispute about whether a
particul ar cost ought to be in or out of the revenue
requi renment, what authority will the Conm ssion or could the
Commi ssion use to decide that question?

A So | think in general it would be |ooking at the
provi sions of the settlenment stipulation and of the testinony
and the record and saying, "Is this one of the identified costs
t hat shoul d be excluded fromrates?" |If it is, then it would

be excl uded.
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Q Okay. Does the PacifiCorp need agreenment fromthe
other states to treat these costs this way or does it consider
this not to be a nulti-state issue?

A So nmy understanding of the other states is they wll
have to do their own determ nation on their cost of service.
And so we woul d be seeking, |like for any proposed resources
specifically, to have those be treated situs to Utah so that
ot her states know that they're not picking up those costs. |
t hi nk whether they agree with all of the adjustnents to the SG
and SE all ocation factor would be a subject of their
jurisdiction.

And so | think the Conpany understands that and
under stands that we'll have to manage through this process
goi ng forward.

I think our key goal here is to get clear guidance
fromthe state of Utah that it perceives this treatnment for
Ut ah custoners as at |east no harm Certainly we believe
there's a net benefit and that this contract and that treatnent
in the context of Utah custonmers is just and reasonabl e and
good for the state.

So | don't think we're taking a position on other
states here today.

Q Al'l right. Let ne explore the idea of the situs for
just a mnute with you

As a long tine staff menmber and now commi ssi oner,
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when | heard the termthat sonmething was situs assigned to
anot her state, in ny mnd that neant that there were no common
costs and that everything about that was now that state's
responsibility.

But in this case, the testinony to nme is suggesting
that the costs associated with this LLSC are not the
responsibility of Uah customers in general; they're
essentially being segregated by Pacifi Corp to be Pacifi Corp's
responsibility.

A. Yeah, | think that's correct. I think we still think
of it as kind of that two-step of first, you know, the proposed
resources would be situs assigned to Utah, and so Uah is
responsi ble for conmng up with who pays for them and how.

And our proposal is that we will use the reservation
charge to pay those costs and agree to keep that cost out of
the other retail rates for the purposes of setting rates in
Ut ah.

So, yes, we're telling other states, you know, "This
cost is a Uah cost."

And then within the state of Utah, we're saying we
want to leverage S.B. 132 to treat it this particular way where
we will isolate these costs and revenues and | et the other
costs be determined in their in their normal course in rate
cases and net power cost proceedings.

Q Ckay. So let nme just nmke sure | understand.
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From the system perspective, the activities, events,
what ever that occur under the LLSC contract and the custoner
will go into determ ning what costs are assigned to Utah. So
to the extent that this increases Utah's contribution to
coi nci dent system peaks, nmore of the systemcosts will conme to
Ut ah.

But then once they arrive here, the settlenent
stipulation and the treatnment that Pacifi Corp's has proposed is
that at | east as nuch as has been shifted will then be taken
out of the rest of ratepayers' responsibility, the revenue
requirenent, and dealt with in-house with Pacifi Corp under the
contract that they sign with the | arge-load customner.

A I think I"'min alignment with the conclusion; | m ght
phrase the starting point different. | don't think it's that
other states determ ned to send costs to Uah. W' re not
asking for any determi nation in any other state today.

I think what we are proposing is that within Uah, we
agree that we'll authorize the LLSC that when determ ning
Utah's allocated share of various costs of service, that we
woul d adjust the SG and SE factors to provide Utah assurance
that it's not picking up a bigger slice of the system And
that we would we woul d al so provide Utah assurance that all of
t hese proposed resource costs will be kept out of its tota
cost of service.

In order for us to agree to accepting that treatnment,
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we need the revenue fromthe reservation charge to also be kept
out si de of rates.

So us managi ng through the other states and the
allocations will be relevant for us, but | don't know that it's
necessary to work through all of that to approve the LLSC and
t he proposed accounting treatnment, because we're saying, "State
of Utah, this is howwe will do these things."

Does that make sense?

Q Yeah, | appreciate what you've said. And | think

gi ven your answer, | nust have asked ny question slightly
wr ong.

A Okay.

Q But | really appreciate what you said, because it

hel ped a | ot.

My central foundation is that the fornul as that
deternmi ne what portion of the systemcosts are sent to each
state, that those are not being changed by anything that
happens in this docket; is that correct?

In terns of saying that, for instance, "The SE factor

is going to be calculated by this based on these observable

things, the SGwill be calcul ated based on these observable
things.", none of that's changing for the system as a whole.
A. | nean, to be clear -- |ike what SE and SG are,

correct, we're not changing those definitions.

For how it is applied within the context of Utah, we
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are saying we will then adjust out the LLSC contribution to
those things so that the allocation continues to happen as if
that that |oad did not exist.

And our logic, at least as it pertains to Utah -- and
we nmay nmake sinmilar argunents in other states -- is that that
is a logical treatnment because we identified all of the
incremental costs of that service -- in large part, the
proposed resources, but also including the interim market
purchases, the credit, the all owance for the nmeter, et
cetera -- and we excluded all of those costs. And so we've
kind of put it in this parallel bucket.

Q | guess I'mtrying to understand is if it's a two
step process. So we have a coincident system peak that's
critical in these formulas. And fromthe system perspective,
Paci fi Corp's perspective, that nunber, whatever nunmber is
associated with Utah as part of the system coinci dent peak,
will include this customer's |oad when you make the initial
system cal cul ati on

s that correct or not correct?

A And |'monly not answering it because |I don't know
that we're taking a position on that. Like we nmay present to
ot her states that we think making the same adjustnments in their
jurisdiction is appropriate for simlarly excluding certain
costs fromthe cost of service.

So | just don't think we're being determ nate on
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whet her or not it results in changes. | guess this order does
not result in changes at the systent that doesn't nean we won't
seek changes consistent with the Uah treatnment in the future.

Does that maybe answer your question?

Q | think that answers it nmuch better, yes.

A Ckay.

Q And then once that happens, then all of the
provi sions that you've detailed very well about what things are
excluded and how they're treated within the Utah accounting,
then all that happens?

A Yes; correct.

Q Okay. And then | guess as a followup for sonme of
t he questions M. Russell asked:

The transm ssi on system generates wheeling revenues
that are used to |lower the costs that other customers have to
pay; is that correct?

A Correct.

Q And |'m not asking anything about this contract, but
a theoretically robust industry in the future here where there
were many such contracts conming in, at sonme point that could
theoretically measurably inpact wheeling revenues?

A. Yeah. | do think, and we've had di scussions with the

UAE and others, that this is an area that nerits nonitoring as

we add additional -- or if we add, hopefully, additional |arge
loads. | think the facts of future large |oad contracts wll
Page 65

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

be different fromthis one. | think the probability of having
a |lot of opportunities where we're not triggering any

transm ssion facilities and costs is low, and so | think we'll
just have to get into those specific facts.

But yeah, | think if there was a sufficiently |arge
enough contribution fromthese |arge |oads, it could becone a
material factor in wheeling revenues, absent any other growth
in wheeling revenues; yes.

Q Okay. And | think ny final area, you just nentioned
in that answer that this one is sonmewhat unique in that it
didn't require a lot of other investnment in new rate-based type
facilities.

In just general terms, how nmuch of this contract
woul d you think of as being a tenplate for others, and how nuch
will have to be sort of reinvented for contracts that do
require additional investnent?

A | think this can be a tenplate. | only caution that,
in my experience, even before S.B. 132, each very | arge
load -- so S.B. 132 contenpl ates | oads over 100 negawatts. The
current kind of crush of interest in that space is largely data
centers. But we've had custonmers for a long tinme that are over
100 negawatts. And ny experience with those is at about that
| evel, each tends to have their own unique circunmstances that
often end up resulting in variations. As | even |ook at |egacy

very large |l oads, quite a few of them had nonstandard rate
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schedul es dealing with interruptible provisions or different
aspects of their service.

And so | think this contract could map very well for
future applications, but it also isn't beyond the real m of
possi ble that a second custonmer with sinilar overall demand
needs m ght say, "W want to take a different approach versus
on what's paid up front, what's paid over tine.", how different
flexibilities that they could offer could Iimt generation
requirenments, et cetera.

So | think it could be used as a tenplate. It wll
need to be anended here and there for the specific facts, and
there's a chance that a counterparty wants a different type and
approach to their contract. It may not | ook 80 percent simlar
tothis; it nmay be 40 percent sim |l ar because of changes in
ot her areas.

Q Thank you.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: That's all | have.

CHAIR FENN: Conm ssioner Clark, do you have any
guestions?

COW SSI ONER CLARK: | do have a few.

BY COMM SSI ONER CLARK

Q And m ne are going to address the discl osure
di sagreenent that we have. And |I'mgoing to review sone ground
that's really already been plowed by the awers in their

papers and in their argunments today.
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But |I'm assuming that the information that's been
desi gnat ed Regul at or Access Only was -- that you were the
deci si on maker or at |east exerted a |ot of influence in
determ ni ng what received that designation; is that true?

A Are you aski ng whet her Rocky Mountain Power or nyself
personal ly?

Q You personally.

A Me personally, yeah. And | think it was al so
i nfformed by a good deal of conversation with the counterparty
and ki nd of understandi ng aspects that were sensitive to them
And kind of in collaboration, we outlined the confidenti al
mat eri al s.

Q Sure. And you have responsibility for those
rel ati onshi ps for Rocky Mountain Power.

A Correct.

Q Yeah. And ny intent is not to ask you questions that
woul d require you to disclose any of that information, but 1'd
li ke you to consider the hypothetical world in which the
information that's been desighated Regul ator Access Only is
made public.

What interests would be affected; what Rocky Mountain
Power interests, what Rocky Mountain Power customer interests
woul d be adversely inpacted?

And |'d particularly like you to address the scenario

in which the information is available to conmercial and

Page 68

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

i ndustrial custonmers.
A So obviously different pieces of the information
woul d have different degrees of inpact.

For the Conpany in particular, we talked a little bit
earlier with Commi ssioner Harvey on just what it nmeans to set
certain costs and revenues outside of rates. And so inherently
that means risk, right? There's a risk that these things are
i nadequat e.

And then depending on the ternms of the contract, |
don't necessarily have the sane nmeans available to go back and
adjust rates that | may for a traditional cost of service.

So how that risk is identified and quantified and
recovered is kind of at the heart of proprietary trade secret
i nfornati on. Li ke there's other parties that are active,
| ooki ng at serving loads in private generation islands. Soon
there nay be | oads that have gone through this initial study
process that are | ooking to nmake use of connected generation
syst ens.

Qur conpetition also extends beyond just conpetition
within Utah. | nean, these sites are -- the end users of these
data center facilities in particular, they have sone nunmber of
constraints, but they largely can choose to nove outside of the
state and neet their needs.

So there's conpetition just within the state of Utah

and there's broader regional and national conpetitive factors.
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And so having that information out there, especially with
regards to how are we handling pricing and risk information,
one, puts us at a conpetitive disadvantage with conpetitors and
al so could harm our position with the counterparties thensel ves
as they have a different understanding of what is all naking up
t he rates and conponents.

And agai n, those could hurt us. And we think that
harm to Rocky Mountain Power or PacifiCorp can extend to our
ot her custoners. W make the point that we believe this
contract brings benefits to our other custoners. |If we can't
adequately -- if we don't get sonme |oad that we otherw se could
have, there is a potential for |ost opportunities on bringing
nore revenue into surcharge prograns and maybe hel ping to fund
addi tional transni ssion expansions as they're required.

And then not to nmention the benefits of building
enough generation for this load to be reliable and know ng that
it likely will nore often than not be providing additiona
optim zation opportunities if this custoner isn't fully
utilizing it at any given nonent.

So those things kind of harmus and | think by
ext ensi on our custoners.

It also can harm -- back to the earlier coment on
just the effect of being forced to disclose commercial terns as
bet ween us and a counterparty may di scourage ot her

counterparties fromtransacting with us at all because it nay
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put them at a conpetitive di sadvantage for other negotiations
that they have in other jurisdictions or with private
generating -- I'mgoing to butcher the term but the isolated
systenms under S.B. 132 or connected generation systens. Having
it become public exactly what types and anmounts of charges
they're willing to pay in this instance may hurt themin sone
other area. And so the know edge of being forced to disclose
t hose things nmay di scourage themfromconming to us in the first
i nstance.

So those are maybe just a few of the kind of initial
i npacts that | would think of and point to.

Q So a ot of what you said, | at least initially would
relate to price and credit type terms, but can you provide ne
some exanples of information that's outside of that type of
data that the disclosure would be injurious to or have a
chilling effect on other large |load custoners or potenti al
custoners dealing with Rocky Mountain Power?

A. Yeah. | think any of the kind of core conmmerci al
terms -- exact anpunt of capacity, termlength -- | nean,
thi nk each of those things ultimtely is a conponent of the
rate, right? So just very broad brush is like I'"'mgoing to
have increnmental costs, |'mgoing to have some |length of tine
to recover those costs, and so amobunt of capacity served,
duration of serving that capacity: these are all things that

ultimately feed into what is the rate.
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So | think it's not just the "how many dol |l ars per
unit" that kind of make up what | would call the pricing and
the credit provision; there's things that are adjacent to that
are, we think, simlarly sensitive because they have this
direct relationship on how was the rate determ ned.

Q And | think your counsel represented this, but just
to allow you to address it as well:

If we ook at, for exanple, the Regulator Only Access
informati on on pages 9 and 10, for exanple, that address the
energy charge, | think counsel said that disclosure of the

met hodol ogy here would all ow sonmeone essentially to back into

the nunbers that you' ve been describing. |Is that --
A Di scl osure of too many of the different subparts kind
of nmakes -- you can start to read between the lines on like

what is the end result. So even with a handful of the
subconponents, | think it's easier to surm se kind of what the
structure is.

And the Conpany is synpathetic to the viewon it is
hard to -- if I'"'mbeing told I'"'mgoing to be credited the
energy charge and I don't know what the energy charge is, |
have a hard time discerning that that's fair to ne.

And so | do think, kind of echoing M. Russell's
comments earlier, |like we have tried to work in good faith
through this issue. And in lieu of kind of disclosing these

di fferent components of how is the energy charge determ ned we
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kind of try to just force a break and say, "Well, how about we
don't say you're going to get credited the energy charge;
energy charge will be what it is. Let's stipulate that we're
going to provide particular credits that you do know what they
are.", so those we then outline in the settlenent stipulation.

So that's kind of the concern and that's how
we've -- again, | think as a receiver of that information,
knowing I'"m going to get credited a thing and I don't know what
the thing is, well, that's hard to deal with. But | do think
the settlenent stipulation with regards to the energy charge
seeks to break that cycle and say, "W don't need to worry
about what the contract says because this is how we will treat
Ut ah custoners.”

And that can be evaluated and | think determ ned to
be not only covering the cost but providing custoners sone
opportunity for benefit.

Q Those are all ny questions. Thank you.

CHAIR FENN: Thank you, Conm ssioner Clark

| just have one question about your tinming on this.
BY CHAI R FENN

Q Why are you requesting that the Conm ssion approve
this in three days by the 20th of March?

A So without getting into the exact nechanics of the
contract structure, | nmean, in essence, the faster that we can

get contract approval, the faster that we can commence service.
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And with the structure of making i mediate
contributions towards all of these different surcharge
progranms, there's imediate benefits. So the sooner that we
can start collecting those revenues we think all parties
benefit. |If the custoner gets service faster, we benefit from
starting faster, but we think customers benefit fromincreased
revenues in the surcharge prograns.

So we understand that the statute in general
is -- that's at a warp speed. But we are hopeful that with the
settlement stipulation and kind of show ng that these costs
will be treated fairly and be providing opportunity for
customers, that the Comm ssion takes that into consideration
and ideally gives us a favorable timng.

But it really comes down to starting the service as
qgui ckly as possible which we think is in the benefit of
exi sting custoners, the new custoner, and the Conpany as well.

Q So it's aspirational; it's not going to negatively
affect the relationship with the other party?

A We are keenly aware and the custonmer is aware of the
statutory tinelines. And so | think it's a net benefit if we
can move faster, but we understand the timng in the statute.

Q Sure. And | appreciate that.

And | did check, just did the calculations. The 60th
day runs on a Saturday, which is the 11th of April. So we

could i ssue the order on the 10th or the 13th. And |' m not
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suggesting we would take that | ong.
The only conplexity here is the issue that
Russell has raised. |If we had a settlenent stipulati

all the parties were happy with and we didn't have a

M .
on t hat

pendi ng

motion, that | think it could be done within three days. But

I'mnot sure, given the other issue, it will be done.

It could

be, but | just thought I'd find out why the 20th. And | think

I understand what you' ve sai d.

CHAIR FENN: Ckay. | think it will be helpful to

hear fromboth M. Mtchell and M. Burns, but | think it would

probably be wise for us to take a little bit of a break

And let's be back here at — if we could do this by

20 after the hour. I'mstill hoping this is not an all-day

hearing, so we're optim stic that we can nove it al ong.

Thank you, M. Eller. | appreciate it very nuch.

[OFf the record at 11:06 a.m]]

[Back on record at 11:24 a.m]

CHAIR FENN: We appreciate M. Eller's testinony.

| just need to let you know that during the break we

granted interm ssion to -- excuse ne.

All right. W granted an intervention to Utah Cl ean

Energy. And Dr. Mtchell had asked to be excused fromthe

bal ance of the proceedings today. | think he doesn't have a

wi tness and for his own reasons has asked to be excused. So

I've told himthat we would go ahead and grant his request to
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be excused fromthe rest of the proceedings today.

Havi ng said that, we'll now turn to Rocky Mountain
Power for you to call your next w tness.

MS. WALKER: Rocky Mountain Power calls Ranon
Mtchell, who is appearing renotely.

CHAIR FENN: Ckay. We granted an order -- we issued
an order yesterday to grant the notion for the two witnesses to
appear tel ephonically. And so that's what we'll do, we'll hear
fromM. Mtchell right now  Okay.

EXAM NATI ON OF W TNESS, RAMON M TCHELL
BY MS. WALKER:
Q M. Mtchell, please state and spell your full nane
for the record.

We cannot hear you

CHAIR FENN:  We | ost hi m now.

M5. SMTH: He probably intentionally dropped and
will rejoin.

CHAIR FENN: He's com ng back

THE W TNESS: Ckay. |'Il try again.

CHAI R FENN: We can hear you now.

THE W TNESS: G eat.

A My name is Ranbn Mtchell. And what was the second
part of that request?
Q Coul d you pl ease spell your nane.

A RA-MON, MI-T-CHE-L-L.
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Q And by whom are you enpl oyed and what is your
position?

A ' m enmpl oyed by the Pacifi Corp doi ng busi ness as
Rocky Mountain Power. M position is the managing director of
ener gy supply managenent finance and net power costs.

Q And can you pl ease provide the Commi ssion a brief
description of your background and experience relevant to the
testi nony you've provided in this case?

A Yes. | oversee the reporting of actual net power

costs and forecasted net power costs for regulatory purposes.

Q. And have you filed direct testinony in this case?
A. Yes, | have.

Q Do you have any changes to that testinmony?

A There are, but they were discussed in the testinony

of the Conpany with M. Eller regarding allocation factors.
Q So except as nmodified by M. Eller, if | asked you
t he sane questions today, would your answers be the sanme?
A Yes, they woul d.
Q Al right. Thank you
MS5. WALKER: Rocky Muntain Power noves for the
adm ssion of the pre-filed direct testinmony of M. Mtchell.
CHAI R FENN: Ckay. W thout objection, the direct
testinmony is admtted.
[Direct Testinmony of M. Mtchell admtted.]

Q M. Mtchell, have you prepared a summary for the
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Commi ssi on?
A. Yes, | have.
Q And is it your understanding that that sunmary has
previ ously been provided to the Comm ssion?
A. Yes.
Q Al right. If you would please proceed to present
the sunmary.
A Thank you.
Good norning, Chair Fenn, Commi ssioner Cl ark, and
Commi ssioner Harvey. M nanme is Rampbn Mtchell. | serve as
t he Managi ng Director of Energy Supply Managenent Fi nance and
Net Power Costs for Pacifi Corp, doing business as Rocky
Mount ai n Power .
My direct testinony in this proceedi ng addresses the
Conpany' s net hodol ogy for accounting for and directly assigning
all increnmental costs associated with serving a new |l arge | oad
custoner -- referred to as the “Custoner” going forward --
under the proposed |large | oad service contract. The central
purpose of ny testinony is to denonstrate that the Conpany's
approach will protect existing custonmers from subsidi zing the
new | arge | oad, ensure transparency, and conply fully with both
Utah's recently enacted Large Load Act and the Conmi ssion's
Large Load Rul es.
I would like to wal k the Commi ssion through the key

el enents of the Conpany's cost assignnent nethodol ogy.
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First, Increnmental Energy Costs.
The Conpany will maintain separate accounting records

for all transactions related to the proposed | arge | oad service

contract. The Conpany will track all energy charges invoiced
to the Custonmer. These records will be maintained separately
from ot her custonmer accounts and will be available for audit

and review by this Commi ssion. This approach provides the best
representation of the actual energy costs incurred to serve the
Customer' s | oad.

To ensure that other custonmers do not subsidize the
Custoner's energy costs, the Conpany will apply a credit inits
general rate case filings equal to the forecasted energy
charges to be invoiced to the Customer. This credit will
offset the increnmental costs associated with the Custoner's
energy usage, renoving those costs fromthe net power costs
calculation used to set rates for other custoners. Simlarly,
in Uah Energy Bal anci ng Account filings, the Conpany wll
apply a credit offsetting the actual energy charges invoiced to
the Custoner. |In both cases, the Conpany will provide detailed
supporting docunentation denmonstrating the cal cul ation and
application of these credits.

As discussed in the testinmony of Conpany w tness
Thomas Burns, there is a forecasted net benefit to existing
custoners fromthe econom c re-dispatch of systemresources

under this approach over the termof the agreenent.
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Second, Increnmental Transm ssion Costs.

The Conpany will not incur any increnental third-
party wheeling costs to serve the Custoner. The Custoner's
load will be designated as a network | oad under the Conpany's
exi sting transmi ssion rights, and a system i npact study
confirmed that no increnental transm ssion upgrades or third-
party wheeling arrangenents are required to accompdate the
Customer's load. As a result, there will be no increnmenta
wheel ing charges from other transm ssion providers and no
incremental transm ssion cost of service inpacts associ ated
with serving the Custoner.

Third, Incremental Capacity-Rel ated Costs.

The addition of the Customer's |load increnmentally
i npacts several capacity-related costs. First, the Custoner's
load will increase the Conpany's overall |oad, including during
peak hours, requiring additional capacity resources. Second,
the Custoner's |l oad increases the m ni num anount of capacity
for which the Conpany nust plan to neet resource adequacy and
reliability standards. Third, the Conpany's obligations under
organi zed market resource sufficiency requirements wll
increase as a result of the higher forecasted | oad.

To address these capacity needs, the Conpany wil|
procure the Proposed Resources described in the testinony of
Conpany witness Craig Eller. These resources will provide

addi tional capacity that can be depl oyed during system peak
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hours, support the Conpany in neeting resource adequacy
standards and pl anning reserve margins, and increase the
Conpany's ability to nmeet nmarket resource sufficiency

requi rements. The costs of these resources will be excluded
fromthe net power costs forecast in general rate cases and
will not be included in the actual cost of service in the Utah
Ener gy Bal anci ng Account.

During the transition period before the Proposed

Resources becone operational, the Conpany will procure energy
or capacity to nmeet all increnmental capacity-rel ated needs
created by the Custonmer's |oad. The Conpany will maintain

detai |l ed and separate accounting records for all costs
associated with these transitional purchases, and these costs
wi Il not be included in rates for other custoners.

Fourth, Dynam c All ocation Factors.

The dynami c allocation factors used in the Conpany's
cost allocation process will be adjusted to account for the new
Custoner |oad. Specifically, the Custonmer's |oads and peaks
will be excluded fromthe derivation of Uah's allocation
factors, ensuring that the Custonmer's | oad does not distort the
all ocation of costs to other custoners.

Fifth, Interconnection and Shared Facilities Costs.

All interconnection costs required to physically
connect the Customer's facilities to the Conpany's system w ||

be fully recovered fromthe Custoner, as described in the
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testi mony of Conmpany witness M. Eller. These costs will not
be included in the Conpany's revenue requirenment for other
custoners.

The Custoner is also responsible for paying its
proportionate share of any shared facilities that are funded by
ot her custoners, as determ ned by applicable tariffs and system
i npact studies. This ensures that existing custonmers are not
subsi di zi ng the new | oad.

Si xth, and finally, Taxes.

The Customer is required to pay all applicable taxes,
i ncl udi ng nmuni ci pal energy sal es and use taxes and Utah sal es
tax, as part of its service agreenent. These tax paynents are
not included in the cost of service for other custoners. |In
fact, these taxes represent additional revenue that benefits
the state of Ut ah.

In Summary.

The Conpany will directly assign and separately track
incremental costs associated with serving the Customer under
the proposed | arge | oad service contract. Through the neasures
I have described -- including separate accounting, credits
applied in rate cases and Energy Bal anci ng Account filings,
procurenment of dedicated resources, and adjustnents to
all ocation factors -- the Conpany will ensure that existing
customers are held harm ess and do not subsidize the new | oad.

The Conpany's met hodol ogy ensures full compliance with the
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Large Load Act, transparency in cost assignhment, and robust
protection for existing ratepayers.

This concludes ny sunmary. Thank you.

CHAI R FENN: Ckay. Thank you, M. Mtchell.

Ms. W&l ker.

M5. WALKER: No further questions fromnme. M.
Mtchell is available for questioning fromparties and the
Conmmi ssi on.

CHAI R FENN: Ckay. Thank you.

Let's turn to Ms. Schm d.

MS. SCHM D: Thank you.
BY Ms. SCHM D:

Q M. Mtchell, | think I heard you say that the

separate accounting records for this LLSC will be avail able for

the Conmi ssion to audit and review.
Did I recall that correctly? That was in your
sunmary, | think.

A. The conpany's accounting records as it concerns
provi sion of service to the LLSC will be available to the
Commi ssion in general rate case filings and energy bal anci ng
account filings and any other procedures or dockets that the
Commi ssi on wi shes.

Q As part of the regulatory process, will those
accounts and records be available to the OCS and the DPU, or

that a question for another day?
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A In principle, if they are not subject to the debate
on regul ator access, as was discussed prior, then yes. But |I'm
not a legal expert on this new regul ator access nuance.

Q Thank you very much for that clarification.

CHAI R FENN: Ckay. M. Moore.
MR. MOORE: The Ofice has no questions. Thank you.
CHAIR FENN: Ckay. Let's turn to M. Russell
MR. RUSSELL: No questions. Thank you.
CHAIR FENN: Ckay. | assune that didn't generate any
redirect.
MS. WALKER: No. Thank you.
CHAIR FENN: All right. Conm ssioner Harvey.
COWM SSI ONER HARVEY: Just a coupl e of questions.
BY COWMM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q First, to follow up on the DPU s questions, do you
see the -- and if you can't answer this and want to refer to an
attorney or whatever, just say so. But do you see this
regul atory access provision as applying to not just the
contract that's the technical subject of this docket, but also
to accounting procedures that we would see in a rate case?

A. | can envision a scenario in which the charges
i nvoiced to the custonmer on a quantifiable dollar basis by
nont h woul d be, from my understandi ng of what has been
previ ously discussed as regul atory access, would be a set of

information that is Regul ator Access Only.
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So from that perspective, when considering that such
records would of course exist and be part of energy bal ancing
account filings, there would be the potential for regul ator
access in such proceedi ngs when putting the information in
front of the Comm ssion.

Q Al right. Thank you

Moving to the question of the net power cost in the
EBA, you tal ked about forecast and actual costs bei ng excl uded.

"' massum ng what you neant there was that when we're
devel opi ng the anpbunt of net power cost that would go into the
EBA at the rate case to set future stuff, that that's when
you're tal king about the forecasted portions being excluded,
but then in an EBA docket you're tal king about the actual
portions being excluded?

A Yes, conmmi ssioner.
Q Okay. Thanks.

And then just a final area, you talked quite a bit
about current or other ratepayers not subsidizing the new
contract.

In your mnd, is that equivalent to there being no
cost shifting?

A It is equivalent to no cost shifting onto other
customers. In the context of the contract bringing net
benefits to other custonmers, one could argue in principle that

the cost are shifted on the other way onto the onconi ng
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customer. But that's philosophical.

Setting that aside, | concur with your statement.

Q Okay. And | appreciate that distinction.

So it's your position that rather than -- that the
Conmmi ssion doesn't need to engage in a line by line evaluation
of whether there is cost being shifted, but rather it's fine to
look at it froma net benefit anal ysis?

A | wouldn't presune to informthe Comm ssion as to
what to | ook at, and surely all line items should be exam ned.
My position is that on a net basis, the existing custoners wll
not be harned in terms of cost. There will be no net costs
shifted onto existing custoners.

So there will be either held neutral or receive net
benefits. There may be one line itemor two that goes one way
or the other way, but on a net basis the contract is so
desi gned as to produce held harm ess or net benefits in
accordance with the applicable | aws and rul es.

Q Thank you, that's all | have.

CHAI R FENN:  Conmi ssi oner Cl ark

COW SSI ONER CLARK:  Thank you, no questions.

CHAIR FENN: All right. |1 have no questions. M.
Mtchell, thank you very nuch for your summary. Appreciate it.

We'l|l turn back to the Conpany for their next
Wi t ness.

M5. WALKER: Rocky Mountain Power calls M. Tom
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Bur ns,

who' s appearing renotely.

CHAI R FENN: Ckay. You know what, | didn't swear M.

Mtchell, did I?

MS. WALKER: | don't believe.
CHAIR FENN: In hindsight, | don't think I did.
M. Mtchell, are you still on? He may have dropped.

MS. WALKER: There he is.

CHAIR FENN: Well, okay, I"'mgoing to do this in

reverse order. | don't remenber swearing you in now that

think that may have dropped fromny menory. So this is

going to be a little unusual, but I"'mgoing to do it like this.

Bur ns.

RAMON M TCHELL,
a witness herein, having been adm nistered an oath,
was exam ned and testified as preceding.
P
CHAIR FENN: All right. Thank you. Appreciate that.
Okay. Let's go to M. Burns. All right.

MS. WALKER: |If you could go ahead and swear M.

CHAI R FENN: Yeah, |'ll do that now. Ki nd of

normally I would do that, but | don't know what possessed ne.

THOVAS BURNS,
a witness herein, having been adm nistered an oath,
was exani ned and testified as follows.

CHAIR FENN: You may proceed.
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EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. WALKER:
Q M. Burns, could you please state and spell

nane for the record.

your ful

A My name is Thomas Burns; T-H-O MA-S, B-U- R N-S.

Q And by whom are you enpl oyed and what is your

position?

A | am enpl oyed by PacifiCorp; | am Vice President of

Resource Pl anni ng and Acqui sitions.

Q Can you pl ease provide the Conm ssion a brief

description of your background and experience as is relevant to

the testinony you' ve provided in this case.

A |"ve been with PacifiCorp for 18 years in various

anal ytical roles and operational roles. | have assuned ny

current position in the fall of 2022 and | amresponsi ble for

financi al and economic analysis justifying the acquisition of

resources.

Q Thank you. Have you provided direct testinony in

this case?

A | have.

Q And you've also filed your work papers, is that
correct?

A That is correct.

Q Do you have any changes or corrections to any of the

materials filed in this docket? Let nme be nore specific: your
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direct or work papers.

A I have no changes to ny direct or work papers.

Q Thank you. |If | asked you the same questions today,
woul d your answers be the sane?

A Correct.

Q Thank you.

MS. WALKER: Rocky Mountain Power noves for the
adm ssion of the pre-filed direct testinony and supporting work
papers of M. Burns.

CHAI R FENN: Ckay. W thout objection, seeing none,
we'll admit the direct testinony and supporting exhibits and
wor k papers.

[ Testi mony, Exs., Wbrk Papers of M. Burns Admtted]

MS. WALKER: Thank you.

BY MS. WALKER

Q Do you have a prepared summry for the Commi ssion?
A. | do.
Q And has that summary, as far as you're aware, been

provided to the Conm ssion previously?
A As | understand, it has.
Q Al right. If you could please proceed to present
your sunmary.
A Thank you.
Good norning, Chair Fenn, Commi ssioner Cl ark, and

Commi ssi oner Harvey. Happy St. Patrick's Day, by the way.
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CHAI R FENN:  Thank you

A In this proceeding, | provide econom c anal ysis
supporting the Conpany's decision to enter into a new Large
Load Service Contract, or LLSC, between Rocky Muntai n Power
and the proposed custoner. M testinony explains how the
proposed LLSC neets the requirements of Utah's Large Load Act
and the Large Load Rul es, and why approval of the proposed LLSC
is reasonable and in the public interest.

At a high level, ny analysis is intended to
denmonstrate three things: first, that the | arge-|load custoner
will bear the resource costs attributable to receiving this
service; second, that existing retail customers will receive a
benefit fromthe proposed LLSC, and third, there is no materi al
risk to reliability for existing retail custoners.

| performed the simulations using the PLEXCS
optim zation tool -- the production cost nmodel the Conpany uses
in the IRP process. | started with the 2025 integrated
resource plan preferred portfolio and its | oad forecast, then
added the Custoner's demand (grossed up for system | osses) and
added the proposed resources. The nodel was allowed to
economi cal |y di spatch generation and optim ze market purchases,
consi stent with the methodol ogy described in nmy testinony.

This benefited existing retail customers in all scenari os.

On reliability, the nodel results indicate no

mat eri al change in energy not served, or ENS, under nornal
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conditions. In the scenario where the ability to nmake market
purchases was renoved, and the nost chall enging stochastic
year, 2013, as conpared to the 2025 IRP preferred portfolio.

In nmy view, the results are consistent with maintaining
reliability conparable to the preferred portfolio fromthe 2025
| RP>

Based on PLEXOS econonic and reliability analysis, |
concl ude that the Conpany's decision to enter into the Proposed
LLSC i s prudent and will not cause harmto Rocky Mountain
Power's retail custoners.

For those reasons, | recommend that the Conm ssion
deternmine that the Conpany's decision to enter into the
Proposed LLSC is prudent, is in the best interest of Rocky
Mountain Power's retail customers, and is conpliant with the
requirenents laid out in the Large Load Act.

That concl udes my summary.

CHAIR FENN: Ckay. Thank you, M. Burns.

CHAIR FENN: Anyt hing before we go to cross?

MS. WALKER: Nothing further fromme. Thank you.

CHAI R FENN: Ckay. Ms. Schmd

M5. SCHM D: No questions.

CHAIR FENN: M. Moore.

MR. MOORE: No questions. Thank you

CHAIR FENN: M. Russell

MS. WALKER: No questions. Thank you.
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CHAI R FENN:  Conmi ssi oner Harvey.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Just one.
BY COWMM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q On your PLEXGCS run, where you made those concl usions
that you just stated in your summary, was that conpared to the
IRP or to a PLEXOS run w thout the LLSC?

A To the 2025 IRP that did not have the proposed LLSC.

Q I f you had run a new PLEXOS run as a base case, would
t hat have been nmuch different than the 2025 | RP?

A A new run: you're referring to?

Q |"'msorry. Let me clarify.

You said you did a PLEXCS with the new | oad and the
new resources and you've conpared that to the |IRP.

What |'masking is if you had done a PLEXOS run with
the systemas it exists today w thout the LLSC and wi thout the
new resources, do you have any feel for how that conparison
woul d have come out?

A. | would not anticipate any material change.

Q. Okay. Thank you.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: That's all | have.

CHAI R FENN:  Conmi ssi oner Cl ark.

COW SSI ONER CLARK: No questions. Thank you.

CHAIR FENN: Ckay. | don't have any questions
either. Thank you, M. Burns. You may be excused.

THE W TNESS: Thank you very rmuch.
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[ UTAH ASSCOCI ATI ON OF ENERGY USERS]
CHAIR FENN:  AlIl right. | understand we'll now turn
to M. Russell for M. Bieber's testinony. |Is that correct?
MS5. WALKER: That's right. UAE calls Justin Bieber
CHAIR FENN: M. Bieber, welcone.
THE W TNESS: Thank you
JUSTI N Bl EBER
a witness herein, having been adm nistered an oath,
was exam ned and testified as follows.
EXAM NATI ON
BY MR, RUSSELL:
Q Good norning. Could you state and spell your nane
for the record, please?
A. Yes. It's Justin Bieber. That's J-U-S-T-1-N, B-1-E-
B-E-R
Q Can you tell us who you work for and in what
capacity.
A. |"ma principal for Energy Strategies.
Q. Did you subnit pre-filed direct testinony in this
proceedi ng on behal f of UAE?
A. Yes, | did.
Q And with respect to that direct testinony, do you
have any corrections to nmake?
A No, | do not.

Q I f asked the same questions today that were posed in
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your pre-filed testinony, would you provide the same answers?
A. Yes, | woul d.
MR. RUSSELL: We'll nove for the adm ssion of M.
Bi eber's direct testinony.
CHAI R FENN: Any objection? Seeing none, his direct
testinony is admtted.

[Direct testinmony of M. Bieber admitted.]

Q Have you prepared a summary of your testinmony for us
t oday?
A. Yes, | have.

Pl ease proceed.

Thank you.
Good norning, conm ssioners. In nmy direct testinony,
| clarify that I'mnot taking a position on the Conpany's

request for approval of the large |oad service contract.
However, the Conpany is al so seeking approval of its proposed
accounting treatnent associated with the large | oad service
contract, which has cost allocation and rate-making
inplications for the Conpany's existing retail customers.

The Conpany asserts that its proposed accounting
treatment will protect existing custonmers from subsidizing the
new | arge | oad. However, many of the details of the proposed
accounting treatnment have been classified as Regul ator Access
Only, and UAE has not had access to review the details that

woul d be necessary to evaluate that claim
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I recommended that UAE have the opportunity to
evaluate the limted and rel evant details that would be
necessary to evaluate the proposed accounting treatnment.

Q Thank you. And because we're kind of addressing
portions of the request for access to information, |I'm
wondering if, M. Bieber, you could explain a little bit nore
in maybe sone detail about what UAE is concerned about with
respect to the lack of access to information and why we sought
access to that information

A Yes. So, as | just nmentioned, the proposed
accounting treatnent is intended to protect other custoners
from subsi di zing the new large | oad. And generally, that
eval uati on would involve a conparison of the costs being
i nposed on the systemrelative to either the revenues or the
benefits being provided through the contract itself.

W t hout having access to the details of those, it is
not possible for a party such as UAE to validate or even just
eval uate what kind of inpacts m ght be borne on other custoners
or not.

Q Okay. Thank you.

MR. RUSSELL: No further questions.

CHAIR FENN: Ckay. Thank you, M. Bieber and M.
Russel | .

Let's turn, first of all, to Rocky Mountain Power.

M5. WALKER: Thank you, M. Bieber.
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Comm ssi oner Fenn, | have no questions.
CHAI R FENN: Okay. Ms. Schm d.

MS. SCHM D: The Division has no questions. Thank

you.
CHAI R FENN: M. Moore.
MR. MOORE: No questions. Thank you
CHAIR FENN: All right. Let's turn to Commi ssioner
Har vey.

BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q Technically still good norning.
A Good norning, | guess.
Q "' m curious about going forward, particularly in a

rate case or an EBA proceedi ng, how UAE would view their
potential participation in those dockets given the restrictions
that are being advocated in this docket with regard to their
access to information. | want to ask you a little bit about

t hat .

And at a basic level, do you see any way for UAE to
participate in those future dockets with respect to issues
relating to large loads in a way that you think would be
meani ngf ul ?

A So | think our primary concerns in this docket are
related to our opportunity to meaningfully intervene and
participate in those future ratenmaki ng dockets, such as a

future rate case or EBA filing. Because to the extent that
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specific accounting and treatnment gets decided now, that does
limt the ability to evaluate that at a future tinme and
determ ne whether or not it's reasonable.

So fromthat perspective, we feel it's inportant to
be able for things to be evaluated properly nowin this
pr oceedi ng.

Secondly, as we've kind of discussed a little bit
here, a lot of the same information that's been desi gnated
Regul ator Access Only in this proceeding will probably inform
sone of the adjustnments or costs and rates that get set in
those future proceedings. So to the extent that all of the
information -- | guess let nme refrane that.

To the extent that there is not sufficient
i nformati on avail able to evaluate or validate those clains in

future proceedings, we would al so be concerned.

Q You were here for the rest of the proceeding this
nor ni ng?

A Yes.

Q Okay. So you heard the various w tnesses' responses

and understand thenf

A. Yes, | do.

Q Okay. My understanding is that RVMP has essentially
said, "We're going to set certain costs and certain revenues
aside to keep existing ratepayers whol e or unharned, and then

there would be additional benefits that cane in."
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But essentially they're saying rather than | ook at
t hese actual nunmbers -- let me clarify that -- they're saying
to other interveners, "Rather than |ooking at these nunbers,
| ook at this net benefit calculation."”

Is that a fair sunmary in your nmind of what you heard
t oday, or would you change that?

A Yes, | would agree that's a fair summry.

Q And is that a role that you think would all ow UAE to
meani ngfully participate in those future proceedi ngs?

A When you ask if that's a role: being able to eval uate
the net benefit cal cul ati on?

Q Well, | guess what I'"masking is in representing the
clients that UAE tends to represent, if rather than |ooking at
t hese actual costs and revenues you' re | ooking at this other
group of benefits that are coming that are alleged to be a net
benefit, is looking at that second set of accounts sufficient
to protect your client's interests?

A. It's hard to say definitively ahead of time. | think
the nore inportant factor would be whether or not there is a
net benefit. However, certain types of costs inpact different
custoners differently.

So | wouldn't say certainly for now that we woul dn't
be concerned with the specific line itens, because there could
be specific circunmstances that do imnpact certain custoners in a

way that's different fromthe net inpact.
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But | think our bigger concern is certainly
understanding is there a net benefit. And we' ve tal ked about
the fact that certain costs and certain revenues are kept
separate fromthe accounting in the cost of service and rate
maki ng process, but not all of the costs and revenues are done
that way. And so that is the subset of the cost and the
revenues that is our main priority and our concern.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: | think that's all | have.
Thank you.

CHAI R FENN: Conmm ssioner Cl arKk.

COW SSI ONER CLARK: | don't have any questi ons.
Thank you.

BY CHAI R FENN

Q M. Bieber, is it your understanding that to | ook at
proposed accounting treatnent, you would have to have cost
i nformati on associated with that?

A Not necessarily. So, for exanple, in the Conpany's
application with respect to net power cost, they acknow edge
that there would be some anmpunt of increase in costs, but there
woul d al so be an offset to the net power cost equal to the
energy revenues received fromthe customer. So in that
circunstance, it's very difficult to know what that credit
woul d be without knowi ng what the energy revenues would be from
t he custoner.

In the stipulation, that has changed. And so instead
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of that credit being equal to the actual energy revenues from
the customer, it's being cal cul ated based on the | ocationa
mar gi nal price.

So there are ways to structure things from an
accounting standpoint that may be different or that can
mtigate some of those concerns related to sensitive data.

So when evaluating the stipulation and accounting
treatnment, the inportant factor will be that credit: is that
sufficient enough to offset the cost? It's not as inportant
necessarily what that custonmer revenue is or the energy charge
if it's not being used for that credit.

Q And how do you respond to the statenment -- you were
here when we had the argunent on the notion earlier
today -- sonething to the effect that if the nethodol ogy, the
accounting met hodol ogy was di sclosed, that would all ow you to
back into sensitive comercial data.

Is that sonething that you think is likely, that it
woul d al l ow you to extrapol ate and have information that woul d
be comercially sensitive based upon the inputs in the
nmet hodol ogy?

A That's a difficult question for nme to answer w thout
seei ng what the methodology is. | could probably think of sone
exanpl es where that woul d be possible and sone where it
woul dn' t.

But I would also say, relatedly, we're not asking for
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all of this information to be made public; we're asking for
limted information to be made avail able on a confidenti al
basis and not to be used for that purpose. And so even if it
was technically possible, being subject to that kind of
confidentiality obligation, that's not something that we would
be goi ng and doi ng.

And so when you think about the other argunent and
t he Conpany's response to our notion about informtion that
just cannot be forgotten, | would inmagine even if you could
back your way into those nunbers, it would take sonme
substanti al amount of work that we would be, in accordance wth
our confidentiality obligations, not going and perform ng that
kind of work or assessnent.

Q Sure. And | appreciate what you' re saying is that
you woul d feel bound by your confidentiality agreement and
personal integrity.

A Ri ght .

Q But you do understand an entity that may have
conpetitors in the marketpl ace being extrenely concerned about
i nformati on, even unintentionally, being distributed to their
potential conpetitors; don't you understand that concern?

A. Yes, | certainly understand the concern. And to be
frank, | don't really want to have access to any super
confidential information that | don't need to. M preference

woul d be that we could have access to certain limted details
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or it could be structured in such a way -- such as the exanple
I mentioned using the locational marginal price for the energy
credit as opposed to the actual energy charge fromthe
custoner: methods or perhaps certain mnimmlevels or
basel i nes, things that could potentially help us get around
t hat issue.
Q Okay. Thank you, M. Bieber. | appreciate that.

Did you have an opportunity to review the direct and
rebuttal testinmony of M. Pernichele and M. Irmas --

Did | pronounce that correct, |Irnmas?

MR. | RMAS: | rmas.

CHAIR FENN: Irmas. Close. Okay.

A Yes, | did.

Q Ckay. Did that provide you with any |evel of confort
that their analysis that there was not cost shifting to
exi sting customers occurring, did that provide you with any
confort that this contract does not result in cost shifting to
ot her custoners?

A It was certainly helpful. W have a |ot of
confidence in their work and so it was hel pful to see that and
t hat does give us sone confort that in addition to the Company
maki ng these assertions that the OCS and the DPU is al so doing
that. However, on behalf of our clients' interests, we always
have a -- in order to be able to tell them "W agree, we think

that this is in your interest”, that's something that we |ike
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to review and val i date oursel ves.

And we don't always have the sane opinions as all the
other intervening parties and sonetines we identify issues that
others don't in the sanme way that others identify issues that
we don't.

CHAIR FENN: Ckay. | understand that. All right.
Thank you. Appreciate that. | have no further questions. You
can be excused.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

CHAI R FENN: Thank you. Appreciate it, M. Bieber

Okay. | think it's tinme to turn to -- we'll put on
the Division's wtness.

[ THE DI VI SI ON OF PUBLI C UTI LI Tl ES]

M5. SCHM D: Thank you. The Division would like to
call M. Matt Pernichele and have him sworn

CHAIR FENN: All right. [I'mgrateful that | renmenber
from previous proceedi ngs how to pronounce your |ast nane. |
did okay, didn't |?

THE W TNESS: Excellent, yes.

CHAI R FENN:  Thank you

MATT PERNI CHELE,
a witness herein, having been adm nistered an oath,
was exam ned and testified as foll ows.
EXAM NATI ON

BY M5. SCHM D
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Q Good afternoon.

A. Good afternoon

Q Coul d you pl ease state and spell your full name for
the record.

A My name is Matthew Pernichele; MA-T-T-HE-W P-E-R-
N-1-CHE-L-E.

Q By whom are you enployed and what is your business
title?

A | ama Public Utilities Consultant with the Division
of Public Uilities.

Q And what is your business address?

A 160 East 300 South in Salt Lake City.

Q How | ong have you worked for the Division?
A Al nost three years.
Q Coul d you please briefly describe sone substanti al

rel at ed experience you have had before the Conmi ssion with

regard to regul atory issues.

A. |'"ve worked on the cost of service aspects of rate
cases for Rocky Muntain Power and Questar. |'ve done sone
other -- testified under some other -- for sonme other

regul atory proceedi ngs as well.

Q Thank you. In conjunction with your enploynment at
the Division -- this sort of goes w thout asking but | need to
ask it anyway -- have you participated in this docket on behalf

of the Division?
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A Yes, | have.
Q Did you review and anal yze the application and the

pre-filed testinonies in this docket?

A Yes.
Q Coul d you pl ease generally describe your activities.
A. Well, | mean, | read everything; went through the

acconpanyi ng spreadsheets and work papers, tried to determ ne
whet her they were reasonable and cal cul ati ons were correct. A
| ot of them are plug nunbers, so there's only so nuch you can
do about it. They don't show the calculation is what | nmean by
t hat .
| issued a series of data requests to clarify sone
things with the Conpany and they responded and | analyzed those
and | ooked at the one piece of rebuttal testinony that was
filed.
We net with the Conpany on, | think, six or seven
occasions to discuss this docket.
Q Thank you. Did you prepare and cause to be filed
what's been pre-marked as DPU Exhibit Number 1.0 DIR in both
hi ghly confidential Regul ator Access Only form and redacted
formon March 3rd of this year?
A Yes.
Q Did you prepare and cause to be filed your rebuttal
testinmony in both highly confidential Regul ator Access Only

formand in redacted form and attached to each of those was
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t here DPU Exhi bit Number 1.01R which is the Rocky Muntain
Power response to DPU data request set two?

A Yes.

Q Do you have any changes or corrections to that
testi nony?

A. No, | do not.

Q I f asked the sanme questions today, would your answers
be the same as those set forth in your testinony?

A. Yes.

MS. SCHMD: Wth that, the Division would like to
nove for the adm ssion of M. Pernichele's direct and rebutta
testinmony in the highly confidential and redacted form and
related to the rebuttal testinony, the adm ssion of his Exhibit
Number 1.10R which is a RMP response to a DPU data request.

CHAIR FENN: COkay. |s there any objection to the
adm ssion of the testinony?

Okay. We will admt his direct and rebutta
testinmony in the highly confidential regulatory access and the
ot her redacted fornms of the testinony as well as the
acconpanyi ng exhi bit.

[ Testimony and Ex. of M. Pernichele Admtted.]

MS. SCHM D: Thank you

BY M5. SCHM D

Q M. Pernichele, did you participate in the settl enent
process that led to the execution and filing of the settl ement
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in this docket?

A Yes.

Q Is it your opinion and the opinion of the Division
that the settlenment is just and reasonable in result and is in
the public interest?

A Yes.

Q Do you have a summary and statenent in support of the

stipulation you would like to present today?

A Yes.
Q Pl ease proceed.
A Okay. Good norning conm ssioners. The purpose of ny

testinmony today is to provide the Division's support for the
settlenment stipulation resolving the issues in this docket.

The conpany is asking the Comm ssion to approve a
| arge | oad service contract between Pacifi Corp and a | arge | oad
custoner. PacifiCorp, the Ofice of Consumer Services, and the
Di vi si on have agreed upon a stipulated settlenment. The
Di vi sion recommends that the Conmi ssion approve the stipulation
because the large | oad service contract is just and reasonabl e
inresult and in the public interest.

It appears that the contract satisfies the applicable
statutory requirenents in Title 54, Chapter 26

The Division analyzed the Conpany's testinony, work
papers, and exhibits in this docket; issued and revi ewed

responses to several data requests; and met with the Conpany

Page 107

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

several times to discuss this contract.

The Division's direct testinony raised concerns about
i ncluding the custoner's load in Utah's nmulti-jurisdictional
allocation. This would potentially raise costs for Utah
ratepayers in a way that appears to be prohibited by the act.
Pacifi Corp has clarified in a data request response and in the
stipulation that the customer's load will not be included in
Utah's nulti-jurisdictional allocation

The Di vision concluded that the application conplies
with the act's filing requirenments and that in net the custoner
bears the costs attributable to its |oad and ratepayers do not
i ncur the costs of serving the custoner. The contract will
all ow the Conpany to increase the utilization of its existing
assets which will increase the efficiency of the system The
conpany's estimated benefits to ratepayers and the comunity
are well supported, reasonable and significant.

The Division's reviews suggest that the contract
nmeets the statutory requirenments for approval of a large | oad
contract and it ultimtely provides net benefits to ratepayers.

The Division reconmends the Commi ssion approve the
stipulation as fil ed.

MS. SCHM D: Thank you. M. Pernichele is now
avail abl e for cross-exam nation questions and questions from
t he Conm ssi on.

CHAI R FENN: Ckay. Thank you, Ms. Schm d. Thank
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you, M. Pernichele, for your summary.

We'll turn to Rocky Mountai n Power.

M5. WALKER: | have no questions for M. Pernichele.
Thank you.

CHAIR FENN: M. Mbore?

MR. MOORE: No questions. Thank you

CHAI R FENN: Ckay. M. Russell?

MR. RUSSELL: No questi ons.

CHAIR FENN: All right. Let's turn to Comm ssioner
Cl ark.

COW SSI ONER CLARK: No questions. Thank you

CHAIR FENN: Now let's turn to Comm ssi oner Harvey.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: A questi on.

BY COW SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q You' ve testified that the settlenment is just
unreasonable in result. | think you used the words on net.
A Yes.

Q My question is about the net. Did the Division
conduct anal ysis by customer class or tariff schedule type or
just in total?

A In total .

Q So the Division doesn't necessarily have any
i nformati on about differential inpacts that m ght happen by
custonmer type?

A They should all be positive through the EBA. So it
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shoul dn't affect anything beyond energy charges.

Q Ckay. All right.

Second area, the Conm ssion has been presented with a
contract which the statute tells us to approve in the next
number of 60 days. But the stipulation has presented us with a
whol e set of procedures, accounting methods, that at least to
my view seemto be outside of that contract.

Does that seem accurate to you?

A Yes. The contract is between Pacifi Corp and the
custoner; the stipulation is between the parties of which the
custoner is not a party to the stipulation

Q And woul d you agree that the stipulation covers nmany
topics that the contract is silent on?

A. Yeah, | believe that's accurate.

Q Okay. Thank you.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: That's all the questions
have.

BY CHAI R FENN

Q. So M. Pernichele, tell me what work you did to make
sure that the accounting mechanisns that are at issue in the
motion filed by UAE are accurate?

A Well, | don't think they provided the exact
accounting nmechani smof how this is going to show up in their
books yet. They've stipulated that it's going to be separate

accounts, so they'll all be auditable.
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Q So by that you nean they'll be reviewable in

subsequent proceedings, either in an EBA or in a rate case?

A. Correct. And | would anticipate that's sonething
we'l |l have to do.

Q Okay.

A Both the revenues and the costs were prinmarily

projections that they presented with their filing, which is
under st andabl e because the future hasn't happened yet. And
verified the projections fromother sources where | could. A
ot of themwere only within the confines of the docket,
however, a lot of that information. So there's an el enent of
trust.

Q Okay. You've had 35 days since the application was
filed with the Comm ssion. Can you just give ne a short
sunmary of the processes that you followed as the Division to
arrive at the stipulation: nmeetings, data requests?

A The conpany actually had a neeting with us prior to
filing in which they outlined --

Q. How | ong ago was that; when did that occur
approxi matel y?

A | believe that was in January.

Q Okay. Was there just one neeting before the February
10th filing?

A. That's ny recollection, yes; there was one neeting

bef ore.
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Q Okay. So let's talk about what has been done in the
| ast 35 days for you to reach the confort |evel that you're
willing to stipulate.

A. Well, | mean, nyself and others in the Division have
reviewed all the docunents. There were sone things that they
did not file that we requested to see that the Conpany didn't
want to give us copies of, so we went out and viewed those:
there was a credit agreenent and sone additional details on the
fixed charges. And those nunbers all conformed w th what was
in the filing.

Again, | double checked sonme of the assunptions that
were based on already existing data. |'mtrying to not break

the confidentiality.

Q Sure. I'mnot asking you to disclose anything that
could be remptely confidential. | just want to talk about the
process.

A Okay. We ran sone of their nunbers. A |ot of
interaction with the Conpany on this one, nore than we usually
have.

Q So when you say a lot of interactions, did you have
mul tiple neetings with the Conpany?

A Yes. | think a total of six times probably between
phone calls and in-person neetings.

Q Okay. And then did you propound data requests one

time or nore than once?
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A There were two sets of data requests.

Q And | know you received sonme responses after the
filing of your direct testinony, which did not come in in tine,
and that you were then able to el aborate upon in your rebuttal
testinmony; is that correct?

A. That's correct, yes.

Q Okay. And was there anything that you felt was
unresolved with respect to cost shifting in your discussions,
or did you reach a conclusion that in no respect would there be
cost shifting to other customers here?

A. Well, their cost shifting mechanismis based on
projections. So theoretically it's possible that -- it's not
like a hard and fast line like the statute says it should be,

t he nmechanismthey've set up; it's "We're going to take this
much nmoney fromthe custoner and we think the customer is going
to cost us this nuch noney and the resulting net benefit in
energy costs will go into the EBA."

| haven't been able to think of a scenario where that
would flip and there would be a net loss there, but | don't
think we'd allow a net loss into the EBA

Q And how woul d you make sure that that didn't happen?

A More work every tine we go through the EBA every
year.

Q So further analysis in an EBA or perhaps in another

proceedi ng, including even a general rate case?
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A Yes, that's correct.

Q Ckay. All right. | think that -- I"'mjust trying to
understand: we're being asked to essentially ratify the
settlenent stipulation of the parties and | just wanted to nake
sure that you felt |ike you had adequate tinme and you covered
all of the issues that were relevant to reach this stipulation.

A There was the issue that M. Bieber brought up that
M. Russell described earlier. | ran some numbers on that and,
agai n, assumi ng the assunptions are correct about what's going
to happen in the future, | don't think it will shift costs to
custoners at all; it'll just slightly reduce benefits. That's
the only thing that is outstanding in ny m nd.

Q Okay. All right. | have no other questions.

CHAIR FENN: All right. Thank you, M. Pernichele.
You can step down.

THE W TNESS: Thank you

[ OFFI CE OF CONSUMER SERVI CES]

CHAIR FENN: Let's turn to M. Mbore

MR. MOORE: Yes. The Ofice of Consuner Services
calls Caneron Irmas to the stand and asks that he be sworn.

CHAI R FENN: Welcone, M. Irnmms.

CAMERON | RMAS
a witness herein, having been adm nistered an oath,
was exam ned and testified as follows.

EXAM NATI ON
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BY MR. MOORE
Q. Coul d you pl ease state and spell your nane for the
record.

A. Caneron Irmas; CGA-ME-R-ON, I-R MA-S.

Q How are you enpl oyed and what is your business
addr ess?
A I"'ma utility analyst with the Office of Consuner

Services; ny address is 160 East 300 South, Salt Lake City,
Ut ah.

Q In your capacity as a utility anal yst, have you
reviewed the application, testinony, and DR responses in this
case?

A. Yes.

Q Did you prepare, and on March 3rd, 2026 cause to be
filed, redacted direct testinmony, redacted confidential direct
testimony, and highly confidential Regul ator Eyes Only direct
testi nony?

A Yes, | did.

Q Do you have any changes to your testinmony you'd like
to make at this tinme?

A. No, | do not.

Q If I asked you the sane questions that are contained
in your witten testinony, would your answers be the sane?

A. Yes.

MR. MOORE: At this point, the Ofice would nove for
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t he adm ssion of the direct, confidential direct, and highly
confidential Regulator Eyes Only direct testinony.
CHAIR FENN: Ckay. |s there any objection?
Okay. We'll admt that testinony.
[ Testimony of M. Irmas admtted.]
Q In your capacity as utility analyst, have you
reviewed and did you participate in the negotiations |eading to

the settlenment stipulation which is the subject of today's

heari ng?
A Yes.
Q Have you prepared a statenent sunmari zing the Ofice

of Consuner Services' position on the settlenment stipulation?

A Yes, | have.
Q Pl ease proceed.
A In this docket, Rocky Mountain Power, or RMP, applied

for approval of a large |oad service contract in accordance
with the statute and adm nistrative rules regarding | arge scale
el ectric service requirenents. In ny analysis, | reviewed the
provi ded testinony, work papers, and contract docunents for
potential ratepayer inpacts associated with serving the |arge
| oad custoner, including cost drivers, coverage of financi al
and operational risks, and potential benefits.

My anal ysis showed that the filing neets the
statutory requirenents and adequately addresses risks. The

contract provides sonme verifiable benefits and additi onal
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potential benefits to ratepayers.

RMP' s proposed approach accounts for the fixed costs
of establishing service and vari abl e energy costs, both
assigning themto the customer and providing an accounting
met hodol ogy to ensure that these costs are separately tracked
and not passed on to other ratepayers. The contract also
clearly defines the custonmer's financial obligations regarding
credit assurances and contract term nation.

RMP has reasonably denmonstrated that the custoner's
| oad addition does not introduce reliability risks and that the
proposed resources will further expand system capacity.

Finally, RMP describes the potential benefits to
ratepayers, primarily resulting from econonic system di spatch
surcharges, and the proposed resources.

In summary, in my opinion, the contract adequately
protects existing ratepayers and provi des sonme neasure of net
benefits.

In conclusion, | believe that the settlenent is just
and reasonable in result and in the public interest. |
reconmend that the PSC approve the application. Thank you.

MR MOORE: M. Irnmas is now avail able for cross and
guestions fromthe Commi ssion

CHAI R FENN: Ckay. Thank you, M. Irnmas.

Let's turn to Rocky Mountain Power.

M5. WALKER: We have no questions. Thank you

Page 117

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

CHAIR FENN. Ms. Schm d

M5. SCHM D: No questions. Thank you.

CHAIR FENN: M. Russell

MR. RUSSELL: No questions. Thank you.

CHAIR FENN: Let's go to Conm ssioner Clark again.

COW SSI ONER CLARK: | just have a question or two.
BY COMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q Did you have access to all the information that you
felt would be relevant to the conclusions that you' ve reached
t oday and expressed today?

A | did.

Q Thank you. That's my only question.

CHAIR FENN: COkay. Conmi ssioner Harvey.

BY COWMM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q Hello. A very simlar question to what | asked the
DPU wi t ness, but with the twi st that we recognize froma
statutory perspective the OCS has obligations to certain
customer classes and not to others.

Did the OCS evaluate both the contract and the
stipulation with respect to the differential inpacts by
custonmer cl ass?

A Yeah, so we didn't specifically evaluate great
classes individually, nor did we — our evaluation did not
i ndi cate there was any di sproportionate distribution in this

case. So we didn't look at the specific classes there.
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Q So you thought there was no need to do so because of
t he way the accounti ng nmet hodol ogy was structured?

A | think that's correct.

Q Okay. | think that's all | have, then. Thank you
BY CHAI R FENN

Q This is just a little bit of a followup on the
guestions you were just asked.

You said in your summary that the accounting
met hodol ogy separately tracked and nmade sure that the costs
were not passed on to other ratepayers. Ckay.

Can you tell me what you did to reach that
concl usi on, how you reached that conclusion that the accounting
met hodol ogy was sound?

I'"mnot trying to put words in your nmouth: is that
your conclusion, that the accounting methodol ogy was
appropri ate here?

A Yes, | do think it's appropriate. And again, as
M. Pernichele was saying, many things are projections in this
case. There are uncertainties, but | think that there are many
processes in place in general throughout the case that ensure
protection that | think that is especially inportant to us as
t he OCS.

Q Okay. And do you think that there is any — |
understand the Office is taking no position on the notion.

Do you, as a witness, think that there is any fl aws
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in the record that granting M. Russell's notion would address?
Is there sone reason we should --
A. Sorry. Do you nean a reason to approve the notion?
Q A reason for us to grant his notion to give them
access to the accounting nethodol ogy information.
A I|'mnot sure | can speak to that.
MR. MOORE: Excuse ne. | just wanted, for the

record, to mark this bit of a |legal question comrenting on the

motion. Just for the record, I'd like to do that.
CHAIR FENN: It's a good point. |'m not asking him
to give a legal conclusion; | just want to see if he as any

opi nion as to the adequacy of the information that was provided
to make the concl usion

A I'"mnot sure | could speak with great confidence to
that particular aspect of the notion. | think I understand
UAE' s position and | appreciate the contributions they' ve made
to this discussion. They were tal king about enbedded costs for
transm ssion and | understood that that's a potential issue.

In our case, in our analysis, we were focusing very
heavily on increnmental costs including froman increnental
transm ssion cost, increnental generation costs, as well as the
variabl e costs and the capacity costs. And so | think between
those different things, we determ ned that the benefits in this
case are outweighing those risks. W' Il continue to |look into

those things in the future.
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But I'"'mnot sure if | can specifically speak to

whet her the notion should be approved.

Q "' mnot asking -- and | shouldn't have -- if |
phrased it that way, | shouldn't have asked you that way. |
apol ogi ze.

|'masking for as to the nerits of the argunment that
there should be nore discourse of information and you've
answer ed the question.

Utimately, at the end of the day, your viewpoint is
that this contract should be approved since there are not costs
that are shifted to existing custoners; is that your ultimate
concl usi on?

A Yes, it is.
Q Ckay. AlIl right. | have no other questions.

CHAIR FENN: Thank you. Appreciate it, M. I|rnas,
your testinony.

THE W TNESS: Thank you

CHAI R FENN:  You can be excused.

Okay. Anything else fromthe Conpany?

MS. SM TH: Yes.

CHAIR FENN: Ms. Snmith.

MS. SMTH: One brief item | don't think that we
noved to adnit the application and the settl enment stipulation
itself. So I'd like to do so now

I'd like to nove for adm ssion of our application.
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| know I noved to admit the testinonies, but | think
we overl ooked the application and the stipul ation.

CHAIR FENN: Yeah, and | think that's a good point.
I"'mglad that you did that. W should have that in the record.

And so it's been noved that we admit the application
and the settlenment stipulation. |s there any objection?

Okay. All right. It's admtted.

[ Application and Settlenent Stipulation Admtted.]

M5. SM TH: Thank you

CHAI R FENN: Thank you very nuch

Okay. Anything else?

[ NEXT STEPS]

CHAIR FENN:  Well, | understand the Conmpany's desire
in getting a ruling fromus as soon as possi bl e because of
busi ness considerations with your custoner. |'mnot sure we
can grant a detailed order with our analysis in three working
days, by the close of business on Friday.

And |'m not making a pronmise to do this, but if we
can, we nay issue a brief order as to the ultimte
conclusion -- if the contract is approved or not approved, that
the notion is denied or approved -- and then have a nore
detail ed order to follow

| think that would be hel pful to you, would it?

M5. SMTH: Yes. Thank you.

CHAIR FENN: Okay. All right.
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Okay. Wth that, we'll take the matter

under

advi semrent and we'll issue a ruling as soon as we can

Thank you. Thanks, everybody for your
partici pation today.

[ Adj ourned at 12:36 p. m]

att endance and

Page 123

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

Hearing - March 17, 2026

REPORTER S CERTI FI CATE

STATE OF UTAH )
COUNTY OF UTAH )

|, Spencer Von Jarrett, a Certified Shorthand
Reporter, Registered Professional Reporter, hereby certify:

THAT the foregoing proceedi ngs were taken before nme
at the tinme and place set forth in the caption hereof; that the
witness was placed under oath to tell the truth, the whole
truth, and nothing but the truth; that the proceedi ngs were
taken down by me in shorthand and thereafter ny notes were
transcri bed through conputer-aided transcription; and the
foregoing transcript constitutes a full, true, and accurate
record of such testinony adduced and oral proceedi ngs had, and
of the whole thereof.

| have subscribed ny name on this 29th day of

January, 2026.

G o

Spencer Von Jarrett

Regi stered Professional Reporter #993793
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Utah Rules of Civil Procedure
Part V. Depositions and Discovery

Rule 30

(E) Submission to Witness; Changes; Signing.

Within 28 days after being notified by the officer
that the transcript or recording is available, a
witness may sign a statement of changes to the form
or substance of the transcript or recording and the
reasons for the changes. The officer shall append

any changes timely made by the witness.

DISCLAIMER: THE FOREGOING CIVIL PROCEDURE RULES
ARE PROVIDED FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY.
THE ABOVE RULES ARE CURRENT AS OF APRIL 1,

2019. PLEASE REFER TO THE APPLICABLE STATE RULES

OF CIVIL PROCEDURE FOR UP-TO-DATE INFORMATION.




VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS

COMPANY CERTIFICATE AND DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
Veritext Legal Solutions represents that the
foregoing transcript is a true, correct and complete
transcript of the colloquies, questions and answers
as submitted by the court reporter. Veritext Legal
Solutions further represents that the attached
exhibits, if any, are true, correct and complete
documents as submitted by the court reporter and/or
attorneys in relation to this deposition and that
the documents were processed in accordance with

our litigation support and production standards.

Veritext Legal Solutions is committed to maintaining
the confidentiality of client and witness information,
in accordance with the regulations promulgated under
the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act (HIPAA), as amended with respect to protected
health information and the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, as
amended, with respect to Personally Identifiable
Information (PII). Physical transcripts and exhibits
are managed under strict facility and personnel access

controls. Electronic files of documents are stored




in encrypted form and are transmitted in an encrypted
fashion to authenticated parties who are permitted to
access the material. Our data is hosted in a Tier 4

SSAE 16 certified facility.

Veritext Legal Solutions complies with all federal and
State regulations with respect to the provision of
court reporting services, and maintains its neutrality
and independence regardless of relationship or the
financial outcome of any litigation. Veritext requires
adherence to the foregoing professional and ethical
standards from all of its subcontractors in their

independent contractor agreements.

Inquiries about Veritext Legal Solutions'
confidentiality and security policies and practices
should be directed to Veritext's Client Services
Assoclates indicated on the cover of this document or

at www.veritext.com.
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